
Homeless Commission 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info | Homeless Commission  

MEETING AGENDA 
April 13, 2022 – 7:00 PM 

Join Zoom Meeting:  
https://zoom.us/j/96645301465  
To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter Meeting ID: 966 4530 1465 
Commission Secretary: Josh Jacobs (jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info; 510-225-8035) 

Mayor Arreguin: 
Paul Kealoha-Blake 

Rashi Kesarwani: 
Vacant 

Terry Taplin: 
Vacant 

Ben Bartlett: 
Vacant 

Kate Harrison: 
Mary Behm-Steinberg 

Sophie Hahn: 
Alexandria Rodriguez 

Susan Wengraf: 
Carole Marasovic 

Rigel Robinson: 
Cyn Gomez 

Lori Droste: 
Todd Andrew 

All agenda items are for Discussion and Possible Action. 

1. Roll Call.
2. Public Comment.
3. Approval of minutes from March 9, 2022. [Attachments 1].

Updates/Action Items: 
4. Agenda Approval.
5. Presentation from Fred Finch Youth Services on the scope of, and status

of, their program and of transition age youth in Berkeley. Possible Action
6. Chair update including on crisis stabilization center.
7. Staff update to include updates on changes in the Coordinated Entry

System (CES) at to transition age youth, funding at the Golden Bear Inn,
status of Horizon/SPARK, updates on Ashby freeway encampment
(Caltrans), status of the South Berkeley Homeless Coordinator, planned
encampment actions.

8. Housing preference policy inclusion of persons displaced into
homelessness. Possible Action.

9. Discussion on safe injection sites and models implemented elsewhere.
10. Adjourn

Attachments: 
1. Minutes from Meeting of March 9, 2022.
2. Fred Finch Youth Services Description.
3. Crisis Stabilization Center.

mailto:jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Commission_Homepage.aspx
https://zoom.us/j/96645301465
mailto:jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info


Page 2 of 3 
Homeless Commission Meeting Agenda 
April 13, 2022 

4. Housing Advisory Commission Housing Preference Policy.
5. Safe Injection Sites: San Francisco, Boston, Philadelphia.

Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March 17, 
2020, this meeting of the City Council will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and 
Zoom videoconference.  Please be advised that pursuant to the Executive Order and the Shelter-
in-Place Order, and to ensure the health and safety of the public by limiting human contact that 

could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a physical meeting location available. 

If you do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click 
on "rename" to rename yourself to be anonymous.  To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon 

by rolling over the bottom of the screen. 

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter Meeting ID: 938 4539 3201. If you wish to 
comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by 

the Chair. 
Correspondence and Notice of Decision Requests:  

Deadlines for Receipt: 
A) Supplemental Materials must be received by 5 PM the day before the meeting.
B) Supplemental Communications must be received no later than noon the day of the meeting.

Procedures for Distribution: 
A) Staff will compile all Supplemental Materials and Supplemental Communications received by the
deadlines above into a Supplemental Packet, and will print 15 copies of this packet for the Commission
meeting.
B) For any Supplemental Material or Communication from a Commissioner received after these deadlines,
it is the Commissioner’s responsibility to ensure that 15 printed copies are available at the meeting.
Commissioners will not be reimbursed for any printing or materials expenses.
C) Staff will neither print nor distribute Supplemental Communications or Materials for subcommittee
meetings.

Procedures for Consideration: 
A) The Commission must make a successful motion to accept and receive all Supplemental Materials and
Communications into the record. This includes the Supplemental Packet compiled by staff.

B) Each additional Supplemental Material or Communication received by or before the meeting that is not
included in the Supplemental packet (i.e., those items received after the respective deadlines above) must
be individually voted upon to be considered by the full Commission.

C) Supplemental Materials subject to a Commission vote that are not accepted by motion of the
Commission, or for which there are not at least 15 paper copies (9 for each Commission seat, one for staff
records, and 5 for the public) available by the scheduled start of the meeting, may not be considered by the
Commission.

*Supplemental Materials are defined as any items authored by one or more Commissioners, pertaining to
an agenda item but available after the agenda and packet for the meeting has been distributed, on which
the Commission is asked to take vote at the meeting. This includes any letter to Council, proposed Council
report, or other correspondence on behalf of the Commission for which a full vote of the Commission is
required.

**Supplemental Communications are defined as written emails or letters from members of the public or 
from one or more Commissioners, the intended audience of which is the full Commission. Supplemental 



Page 3 of 3 
Homeless Commission Meeting Agenda 
April 13, 2022 

Communications cannot be acted upon by the Commission, and they may or may not pertain to agenda 
items. 

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding any item on this agenda will 
be made available for public inspection at Health, Housing & Community Services Department located at 
2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor.  

Public Comment Policy: 
Members of the public may speak on any items on the Agenda and items not on the Agenda during the 
initial Public Comment period. Members of the public may not speak more than once on any given item. 
The Chair may limit public comments to 3 minutes or less. 

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding any item on this agenda will 
be made available for public inspection at Health, Housing & Community Services Department located at 
2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor.   

COMMUNITY ACCESS INFORMATION 
This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location. To request a disability-related 
accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please contact the 
Disability Services specialist at 981-6342 (V) or 981-6345 (TDD) at least 3 business days before the 
meeting date.  Please refrain from wearing scented products to this meeting. 

Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will become part 
of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website.  Please note: e-mail 
addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if included in any 
communication to a City board, commission or committee, will become part of the public record.  If you do 
not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver 
communications via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or 
committee.  If you do not want your contact information included in the public record, please do not include 
that information in your communication.  Please contact the secretary to the relevant board, commission or 
committee for further information.  The Health, Housing & Community Services Department does not take 
a position as to the content.  Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public 
record and will become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s 
website.  Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required, 
but if included in any communication to a City board, commission or committee, will become part of the 
public record.  If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to be made public, 
you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, 
commission or committee.  If you do not want your contact information included in the public record, please 
do not include that information in your communication.  Please contact the secretary to the relevant board, 
commission or committee for further information.  The Health, Housing & Community Services Department 
does not take a position as to the content.   

ADA Disclaimer “This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location. To request a disability-
related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please contact 
the Disability Services Specialist at 981-6418 (V) or 981-6347 (TDD) at least three business days before 
the meeting date. Please refrain from wearing scented products to this meeting.” 



Berkeley Homeless Commission 

2180 Milvia Street, 5th Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.255.8035    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510.981.5450 
E-mail : jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info - http://www.cityofberkeley.info/housing/

MEETING MINUTES  

March 9, 2022 
1. Roll Call: 7:01 PM

Present: Kealoha-Blake, Marasovic, Andrew (7:04), Behm-Steinberg.
Absent: Gomez.
Staff: Radu.
Council: None.
Public: 3.

2. Public Comment: 0

3. Approval of minutes from February 9, 2022.

Action: M/S/C Kealoha-Blake/Marasovic move to approve the minutes as written.

Vote:  Ayes: Marasovic, Andrew, Kealoha-Blake, Behm-Steinberg.
     Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: Gomez. 

Updates/Action Items:  

4. Agenda Approval

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Kealoha-Blake move to approve the agenda, but skip the
chair update.

Vote:  Ayes: Marasovic, Andrew, Kealoha-Blake, Behm-Steinberg.
     Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: Gomez. 

5. Options presentation with two components: a presenter on how the Options system
works, all of its programs with various sources of funding, how those sources of
funding intersect, and how the programs are coordinated; and a second Options
presenter directly working with the homeless on the streets under the recent
$640,000 crisis response monies allocation.

Discussion; no action taken.

Meeting adjourned at 8:52 PM due to technical difficulties. 

       Minutes Approved on: ______________________ 

 Josh Jacobs, Commission Secretary: ____________________ 

mailto:jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/housing/


Turning Point provides transitional housing and supportive services to 

homeless young adults age 18—25. 

FREDFINCH.ORG

Turning Point 

For more information, call (510) 482-2244 or 
visit www.fredfinch.org/turning-point  Turning Point

FREDFINCH.ORG

F R E D  F I N C H  Y O U T H  & FA M I L Y  SE R V I C E S

Fred Finch Youth & Family Services is a leading mental health agency 

that delivers services across systems of care. Our mission is to provide 

innovative, effective services supporting children, youth, young adults, 

and families to heal from trauma and lead healthier, productive lives.  

At Fred Finch, we welcome and invite people from all backgrounds to 

address life challenges in a safe and compassionate environment. We 

commit ourselves to working together with participants to navigate 

complex challenges that may include traumatic experience, mental 

health concerns, drug and alcohol use, or other disabilities. We provide 

innovative, effective services to support participants and their families 

to reach their goals.



Located in Berkeley, California, Turning Point is a transitional housing 
program designed to assist homeless youth age 18-25 to obtain and 
maintain independent permanent housing. Program participants may 
reside in the program for up to 24 months depending on their needs. 

Fred Finch Youth & Family Services staff customizes a menu of services 
to help residents address individual goals. Turning Point provides 
services to up to 12 youth at any given time. 

We have staff members who have worked in the program for many 
years, creating an environment of continuity and consistency. 
Additionally, we are able to provide each participant with daily meals 
and provide on site or on call 24/7 staffing at our location. We are able to 
provide supportive services that vary in setting, length, and frequency to 
fit each participant’s need. We offer six months of aftercare services, 
which can include case management, therapy, or other supports.  

Turning Point residents stay in the program for an average of 12 
months. Three out of four youth who leave the program transitioned 
into permanent housing. 

OVERVIEW SERVICES 

PHILOSOPHY

REFERRALS

Eligible youth are between 18 and 25 at move-in and homeless and low 
income; and may face other life challenges such as a history of trauma, mental 
health or substance abuse problems. 

Find Turning Point and other valuable community 
resources by calling 211 from within Alameda County 
or visiting www.edenir.org.  

To initiate a referral, please contact Senior Director, Kellie Knox at 
kellieknox@fredfinch.org, (510) 485-5277

Turning Point provides participants with services at its King Street site, which is staffed 24 
hours a day. Phone support is available to both sites 24 hours a day. Turning Point services 
include: 

• Transitional housing with the goal of obtaining permanent housing
• Individual, family, and group therapy
• Case management
• Psychiatric services
• Support in rapidly finding and keeping a job; career development
• Life skills training (for example, using public transportation and financial

literacy, conflict resolution with roommates)

• Transportation assistance
• Health education
• Aftercare services

Turning Point draws on the philosophy and techniques associated with the 
evidence-informed practices of the Transitions to Independence Process 
system and on evidence-based supported employment practices. The 
program aims to partner with participants to promote wellness and 
discovery: learning or maintaining healthy lifestyles, finding and keeping a 
job, living independent lives, and discovering their identities as members of 
society. Our approach and philosophy focus upon building supportive and 
respectful relationships, connecting participants with community 
resources, promoting sustainable changes, and navigating a pathway to 
permanent housing. We bring a Trauma-Informed Care approach, assisting 
partici-pants to recover from trauma they may have experienced and which 
may be impacting their opportunities. Staff works to build active 
communication and collaboration with participants, working towards a 
common goal to create change and help the participant live the life they 
intend to live.  

Find Turning Point and other valuable community 
resources by calling 211 from within Alameda County or 
visiting www.edenir.org.  



2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7120 ● E-Mail: TTaplin@cityofberkeley.info

CONSENT CALENDAR
April 12, 2022

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Councilmember Taplin

Subject: Crisis Stabilization Center

RECOMMENDATION
Refer to the City Manager to develop a Crisis Stabilization Center based on the 
Deschutes County Health Services model, and to identify and index potential sites in the 
City of Berkeley available for Crisis Stabilization Center operations.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Staff time. 

In September 2021, Deschutes County Health Services estimated in a correspondence 
with the District 2 Council office that the Crisis Stabilization Center in Bend, Oregon was 
saving approximately $51,000 in Law Enforcement time and approximately $430,280-
815,040 in Emergency Room costs per year. 

In 2021, an estimated $2.4 million from Measure P funds were allocated annually for 
5150 response & transports due to the lack of a Berkeley-based location to transport 
persons in mental health crises.1

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
In April 2021, the US Justice Department announced that its investigations had found 
violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and potential Constitutional 
violations in Alameda County’s mental health services, including facilities at John 
George Psychiatric Hospital and Santa Rita Jail.2 The City of Berkeley is one of two 
local jurisdictions in the state of California with its own Mental Health Division separate 
from the County.

RDA Consulting issued its Mental Health Crisis Responses and Stakeholder 
Perspectives Report3 in October 2021 as part of the Reimagining Public Safety process. 
The report highlights that Berkeley has “an overall insufficient level of resources to meet 
the volume and types of mental health crisis needs across the city.” According to a 
qualitative analysis by the Berkeley City Auditor, roughly 40% of BPD’s welfare check 

1 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Item%204%20Measure%20P%20Memo.pdf 
2 https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-finds-alameda-county-california-violates-americans-
disabilities-act-and-us 
3 https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Ink4P-SLna-HPaNp4WBcfv07knmpTNty/view 

Page 1 of 68 2a.43

Page 385



Crisis Stabilization Center CONSENT CALENDAR

Page 2

calls involved a mental health issue; 20% of disturbance calls, and 10% of calls 
regarding suspicious circumstances also involved mental health.

Berkeley’s Mental Health Division offers a variety of crisis response services including 
the Mobile Crisis Team (MCT), Crisis Assessment and Triage (CAT), Transitional 
Outreach Team (TOT), and the Homeless Full Service Partnership replacing the 
Homeless Outreach and Treatment Team (HOTT). The MCT is not fully staffed and is 
unable to provide services even 5 days a week. These programs currently do not 
provide 24-hour services, and providing transports to longer-term care facilities can 
incur substantial costs, aforementioned Constitutional issues notwithstanding. 

Berkeley contracts out with many community-based organizations to provide drop-in, 
shelter and other services. These organizations provide a different role than a crisis 
stabilization center, which would provide linkage to the network of the other Berkeley-
based organizations as needed for the person in a mental health crisis. There are 
currently no Berkeley programs that provide 24/7 crisis stabilization services. Transports 
to jail or to hospitalization, for persons who would be better served in a community-
based alternative, comes at substantial cost to the City in addition to presenting 
possible constitutional violations earlier cited.

Alameda County operates a 24-hour crisis phone line under Crisis Support Services 
(CSS) that is available to Berkeley residents, and Alameda County Behavioral Health 
Care Services refers callers to CSS after-hours. These phone lines do not provide the 
services that a locally-based crisis stabilization center would provide.

In short, the City of Berkeley does not currently offer 24/7 in-person crisis stabilization, 
and the County’s services are severely under-resourced. A 24/7 crisis stabilization 
center would help provide part of a round-the-clock mental health support system.

Crisis Stabilization is a Strategic Plan Priority Project, advancing our goal to create a 
resilient, safe, connected, and prepared city.

BACKGROUND
The Deschutes County Stabilization Center (DCSC) opened in Bend, Oregon in June 
2020 with state and federal grant funding for opening and operations. In 2020, 
Deschutes County Health Services (DCHS) in Oregon was awarded a second two-year 
grant from the Substance Abuse & Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), 
under the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, and funding from the Oregon 
Criminal Justice Commission for 24-hour operations. Future funding has not yet been 
secured4 but is likely to be renewed: DCHS reports to the District 2 Council office that 
they expect to receive another two-year grant from the Oregon Criminal Justice 
Commission, and will receive $500,000 annually in Medicaid funding.

4 Hernandez, R. (2022). The Bend stabilization center’s future is unknown. OPB. Retrieved from 
https://www.opb.org/article/2022/01/12/the-bend-stabilization-centers-future-is-unknown/ 

Page 2 of 68

Page 386



Crisis Stabilization Center CONSENT CALENDAR

Page 3

In the first year of operations, Deschutes County reported an 8% reduction in 
emergency room referrals from law enforcement, averaging 30 emergency room 
diversions per month and saving approximately $431,280-$815,040 per year 
(Attachment 1). The average length of stay in respite was 10 hours. The observation 
unit offers 23-hour stays, because 24-hour and longer periods would constitute 
“residential” treatment.

Crisis receiving and stabilization services offer the community a no-wrong-door access 
to mental health and substance use care, operating much like a hospital emergency 
department that accepts all walk-ins, ambulance, fire and police drop-offs.

Some considerations for operating a Crisis Stabilization service include:

1. Accept all referrals, regardless of insurance;
2. Offer walk-in and first responder drop-off options;
3. Not require medical clearance prior to admission but rather assessment

and support for medical stability while in the program;
4. Design their services to address mental health and substance abuse crisis

issues and provide linkage to related services if needed beyond the 23-
hour crisis stabilization period;

5. Employ the capacity to assess physical needs and accommodate persons
with physical disabilities while identifying additional medical needs, and
provide linkage to those medical services, if needed;

6. Provide respite;
7. Provide intensive case management, if needed;
8. Be fully staffed 24/7/365 with a multidisciplinary team of clinicians and

peers capable of meeting the needs of individuals experiencing all levels
of crisis in the community, providing access to other community resources
including extended case management, psychiatric evaluation, medical
resources and housing/shelter navigation;

9. Provide full assessments, including screening for suicide and violence
risk;

10.Provide follow-up, following the crisis stabilization stay, to ensure that the
person who stayed at the crisis stabilization center is now receiving the
proper resources so as to minimize the risk of returning to crisis.

SAMHSA defines crisis stabilization services as: 
● Direct service that assists with de-escalating the severity of a person’s level of

distress.
● Providing support for urgent care associated with a substance use or mental

health disorder.
● Preventing or ameliorating a mental or behavioral health crisis.
● Reducing acute symptoms of mental illness by providing continuous observation

and supervision for people who do not require inpatient services.

Page 3 of 68

Page 387



Crisis Stabilization Center CONSENT CALENDAR

Page 4

On November 15, 2021, following a discussion on October 13, the City’s Homeless 
Commission voted “to request City Council refer to the City Manager to develop a crisis 
stabilization program based on the Bend. Oregon crisis stabilization model tailored to 
Berkeley, and that this report be incorporated into the Homeless Commission's 
recommendation.” (See Attachment 4.) On February 2, 2022, the Homeless Services 
Panel of Experts voted to support the Homeless Commission’s recommendation.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE IMPACTS
Possible reduction in Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) from transport diversions.

CONTACT PERSON
Councilmember Taplin Council District 2 510-981-7120

Attachments:
1: Deschutes County Stabilization Center One-Year Operations Report
2: Deschutes County Stabilization Center Prospectus
3: Homeless Commission 10/13/21 Agenda
4: Homeless Commission 11/15/21 Meeting Minutes
5: Homeless Services Panel of Experts 2/2/22 Meeting Minutes

Page 4 of 68

Page 388



STABILIZATION
CENTER
One Year Operations Report

O P E N E D  J U N E  1  2 0 2 0
2 4 / 7  O P E R A T I O N S  B E G A N  1 0 / 1 9 / 2 0 2 0

Page 5 of 68

Page 389



DEMOGRAPHICS

31%

55% are Male
44% are Female

1% Other/Did Not Disclose

of DCSC clients experience homelessness

Adult 90%

Child 
10%

Deschutes Crook Jefferson Other

100 

75 

50 

25 

0 

62%
Bend

17%
Redmond

6% LaPine

3% 1%

89%

2% Sisters

2% Other

7%

Page 6 of 68

Page 390



2,808 visits since opening

1 ,609
The number of crisis evaluations

27%
Have a psychotic disorder

4.7
is the average

number of minutes
Law Enforcement

spends at DCSC per
drop off

8.5
309

STATISTICS

Brought in by 
Law Enforcement 

20% of clients have utilized
respite.

Reductions and
Cost Savings

8% reduction in Emergency Department (ED) visits from
Law Enforcement to St. Charles Medical Center since
opening.
DCSC averages 30 ED diversions/month.  Saving approx.
$431,280-$815,040 per year.

33% reported they didn't know where they
would go.
1% reported they would have taken their life.

12% of people served self-reported they would have
gone to the ED if not for the Stabilization Center.

The Stabilization Center averages

visits per day

Page 7 of 68

Page 391



When are clients arriving to
DCSC?

24/7 STATISTICS
10/19/2020 -  6/01/2021

THE
AVERAGE

LENGTH
OF STAY

IN RESPITE
IS 10

HOURS.

1113 Crisis evaluations
since being open
24/7.

46%

43%

11%

12AM-6:55AM

3PM-11:59PM

7AM-2:59PM

Page 8 of 68

Page 392



Page 9 of 68

Page 393



Page 10 of 68

Page 394



Page 11 of 68

Page 395



Page 12 of 68

Page 396



Page 13 of 68

Page 397



Page 14 of 68

Page 398



Page 15 of 68

Page 399



Page 16 of 68

Page 400



Page 17 of 68

Page 401



 
Homeless Commission 
 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 
 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info | Homeless Commission  

MEETING AGENDA 
October 13, 2021 – 7:00 PM 

 
Join Zoom Meeting:  
https://zoom.us/j/96645301465  
To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter Meeting ID: 966 4530 1465 
Commission Secretary: Josh Jacobs (jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info; 510-225-8035) 
 

All agenda items are for Discussion and Possible Action. 
 

1. Roll Call. 
2. Public Comment. 
3. Approval of minutes from September 8, 2021. [Attachment 1]. 

 
Updates/Action Items:  

4. Agenda Approval. 
5. Staff to report on current numbers of persons receiving housing through 

Shelter Plus certificates, Section 8 vouchers for homeless, flex subsidies 
under Measure P and other subsidies; number of people placed in 
permanent housing from Project Roomkey motels and hotels; and number 
of people currently at Horizon. 

6. Chair and vice-chair update. 
7. Q&A with Peter Radu, or his designee, from City Manager’s office, on 

enforcement of sidewalk ordinance and RV ordinance.           
8. Presentation update on COVID vaccine from Healthcare for the 

Homeless.                           
9. Recommendation for crisis stabilization program in Berkeley. 
10. Discussion, and possible action, regarding the RV lot on Grayson. 
11. Discussion of shelter designated expressly for seniors. 

 
Attachments: 

1. Minutes from Meeting of September 8, 2021. 
2. Development of Crisis Stabilization Program in Berkeley. 

 
 

Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March 17, 
2020, this meeting of the City Council will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and 
Zoom videoconference.  Please be advised that pursuant to the Executive Order and the Shelter-
in-Place Order, and to ensure the health and safety of the public by limiting human contact that 

could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a physical meeting location available. 
 

If you do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click 
on "rename" to rename yourself to be anonymous.  To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon 

by rolling over the bottom of the screen. 

Page 18 of 68

Page 402



Page 2 of 3 
Homeless Commission Meeting Agenda 
October 13, 2021 

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter Meeting ID: 938 4539 3201. If you wish to 
comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by 

the Chair. 
Correspondence and Notice of Decision Requests:  

Deadlines for Receipt: 
A) Supplemental Materials must be received by 5 PM the day before the meeting.
B) Supplemental Communications must be received no later than noon the day of the meeting.

Procedures for Distribution: 
A) Staff will compile all Supplemental Materials and Supplemental Communications received by the
deadlines above into a Supplemental Packet, and will print 15 copies of this packet for the Commission
meeting.
B) For any Supplemental Material or Communication from a Commissioner received after these deadlines,
it is the Commissioner’s responsibility to ensure that 15 printed copies are available at the meeting.
Commissioners will not be reimbursed for any printing or materials expenses.
C) Staff will neither print nor distribute Supplemental Communications or Materials for subcommittee
meetings.

Procedures for Consideration: 
A) The Commission must make a successful motion to accept and receive all Supplemental Materials and
Communications into the record. This includes the Supplemental Packet compiled by staff.

B) Each additional Supplemental Material or Communication received by or before the meeting that is not
included in the Supplemental packet (i.e., those items received after the respective deadlines above) must
be individually voted upon to be considered by the full Commission.

C) Supplemental Materials subject to a Commission vote that are not accepted by motion of the
Commission, or for which there are not at least 15 paper copies (9 for each Commission seat, one for staff
records, and 5 for the public) available by the scheduled start of the meeting, may not be considered by the
Commission.

*Supplemental Materials are defined as any items authored by one or more Commissioners, pertaining to
an agenda item but available after the agenda and packet for the meeting has been distributed, on which
the Commission is asked to take vote at the meeting. This includes any letter to Council, proposed Council
report, or other correspondence on behalf of the Commission for which a full vote of the Commission is
required.

**Supplemental Communications are defined as written emails or letters from members of the public or 
from one or more Commissioners, the intended audience of which is the full Commission. Supplemental 
Communications cannot be acted upon by the Commission, and they may or may not pertain to agenda 
items. 

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding any item on this agenda will 
be made available for public inspection at Health, Housing & Community Services Department located at 
2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor.  

Public Comment Policy: 
Members of the public may speak on any items on the Agenda and items not on the Agenda during the 
initial Public Comment period. Members of the public may not speak more than once on any given item. 
The Chair may limit public comments to 3 minutes or less. 

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding any item on this agenda will 
be made available for public inspection at Health, Housing & Community Services Department located at 
2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor.   

Page 19 of 68

Page 403



Page 3 of 3 
Homeless Commission Meeting Agenda  
October 13, 2021 
 
 
COMMUNITY ACCESS INFORMATION 
This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location. To request a disability-related 
accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please contact the 
Disability Services specialist at 981-6342 (V) or 981-6345 (TDD) at least 3 business days before the 
meeting date.  Please refrain from wearing scented products to this meeting. 
 
Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will become part 
of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website.  Please note: e-mail 
addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if included in any 
communication to a City board, commission or committee, will become part of the public record.  If you do 
not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver 
communications via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or 
committee.  If you do not want your contact information included in the public record, please do not include 
that information in your communication.  Please contact the secretary to the relevant board, commission or 
committee for further information.  The Health, Housing & Community Services Department does not take 
a position as to the content.  Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public 
record and will become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s 
website.  Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required, 
but if included in any communication to a City board, commission or committee, will become part of the 
public record.  If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to be made public, 
you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, 
commission or committee.  If you do not want your contact information included in the public record, please 
do not include that information in your communication.  Please contact the secretary to the relevant board, 
commission or committee for further information.  The Health, Housing & Community Services Department 
does not take a position as to the content.   
 
ADA Disclaimer “This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location. To request a disability-
related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please contact 
the Disability Services Specialist at 981-6418 (V) or 981-6347 (TDD) at least three business days before 
the meeting date. Please refrain from wearing scented products to this meeting.” 

Page 20 of 68

Page 404



 
Berkeley Homeless Commission 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail : jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info - http://www.cityofberkeley.info/housing/ 

MEETING MINUTES   

September 8, 2021 
1. Roll Call: 7:05 PM 

Present: Kealoha-Blake, Marasovic, Behm-Steinberg. 
Absent: Andrew, Gomez. 
Staff: Jacobs, Carnegie. 
Council: None. 
Public: 6. 
 

2. Public Comment: 1 
 

3. Approval of minutes from July 14, 2021.  
 

Action: M/S/C Kealoha-Blake/Marasovic move to approve the minutes from July 14, 
2021 as written. 
 
Vote:  Ayes: Kealoha-Blake, Marasovic, Behm-Steinberg.  

     Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: Andrew, Gomez.  
 
Updates/Action Items:  
 
4. Agenda Approval 

 
Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Behm-Steinberg move to move item 6 above item 5 and to 
approve the agenda. 

 
Vote:  Ayes: Kealoha-Blake, Marasovic, Behm-Steinberg,  

     Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: Andrew, Gomez. 
 

5. Presentation from Women's Daytime Drop-In Center on new system of transitioning 
placement of family homelessness in Albany, Berkeley and Emeryville, from Family 
Front Door to the Women's Daytime Drop-In Center and challenges in addressing 
family homelessness.  

 
Discussion; no action taken. 
 

6. Chair and Vice-Chair Update. 
 

Discussion; no action taken.  
 
7. Presentation from Neighborhood Services in City Manager's office on sidewalk 

ordinance, RV ordinance, disposition of persons displaced from the freeway 

Page 21 of 68

Page 405



Homeless Commission Meeting Draft Minutes  
September 8, 2021 
 

encampments and other encampments following notice, plans in process for 
alternative shelter and housing placement. 

 
Discussion; no action taken.  
 

8. Statistics on COVID vaccination and testing of persons experiencing homelessness, 
sheltered and unsheltered, and outreach being conducted to promote vaccinations 
among persons experiencing homelessness. Staff to report data and outreach 
practices on COVID vaccination. 
 
Discussion; no action taken.  
 

9. Staff to report number of current, and recent, COVID positive cases for persons in 
Berkeley shelters and encampments/streets and on current protocol followed when 
COVID-positive cases are identified in shelters. 

 
Discussion; no action taken.  
 

10. Explanation of how HMIS data is used on a day-to-day basis, how it is used to set 
priorities and how it can be used to create system-wide reports to track progress on 
homelessness. 

 
Discussion; no action taken.  
 

Meeting adjourned at 9:00 PM 
 

                                     Minutes Approved on: ______________________ 
 
                 Josh Jacobs, Commission Secretary: ____________________ 

 
 

Page 22 of 68

Page 406



 
Berkeley Homeless Commission 
 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail : jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info - http://www.cityofberkeley.info/housing/ 

To: Mayor and Members of the Berkeley City Council 
From: Homeless Commission 
Submitted by: Paul Kealoha-Blake, Chair, Homeless Commission 
                       Carole Marasovic, Vice-Chair, Homeless Commission 
Subject: Development of Crisis Stabilization Program in Berkeley 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  That City Council refer to the City Manager to develop a crisis stabilization 
program based on the Bend, Oregon crisis stabilization model, tailored to Berkeley, consistent with 
Councilmember Terry Taplin's proposal for same. 
 
FISCAL IMPACTS: The exact fiscal impact will have to be determined by the City Manager's office. 
However, the costs will be substantially offset by the costs that will be saved by reducing the number of 
5150 transports for which the City of Berkeley currently allocates 2.4 million annually from Measure P 
monies. Grants are also available that will fund the crisis stabilization program. 
 
CURRENT SITUATION and ITS EFFECTS:  Currently, Berkeley has no options to transport persons in 
mental health crisis except to the County John George mental health facility or the Santa Rita Jail.  As 
such, the City absorbs the cost of transporting persons which are not covered by insurance and persons, 
in mental health crisis, are at best, generally, brought to an inpatient facility that stigmatizes them and 
warehouses them briefly, only to discharge them back to the same situation from where they came, and 
at worst, acts punitively in placing them into a correctional setting without needed mental health treatment 
and linkage to resources in their own community. 
 
The United States Department of Justice recently released a scathing investigative report on the lack of 
community mental health models in Alameda County. 
Justice Department Finds that Alameda County, California, Violates the Americans with Disabilities Act 
and the U.S. Constitution 
 
Disability Rights California has filed litigation based on the same 
premise. https://www.disabilityrightsca.org/press-release/disability-rights-california-files-lawsuit-against-
alameda-county-for-its-failed 
 
Berkeley is one of two mental health divisions in the state that has its own mental health division, 
independent from the County, with its own mental health streams of funding. Thus, Berkeley is 
responsible, in large part, for establishing its own community mental health programs.  Yet, Berkeley has 
provided no alternative for persons in mental health crisis to seek stabilization, on a voluntary basis, nor 
an alternative for law enforcement to transport persons in mental health crisis, when the Berkeley Police 
Department is actively engaging with a person in mental health crisis, other than the same County 
facilities, being John George and the Santa Rita Jail, that the Department of Justice has found to be 
deficient in providing needed mental health services, and as overly restrictive and punitive.  
 
It has been estimated that 40%-50% of Berkeley's 5150 transports are homeless. Thus, the unhoused are 
greatly impacted by the inappropriate and punitive transports to John George and Santa Rita because of 
the lack of community mental health models. The unhoused are also greatly impacted by the lack of 
models so that they are frequently returned to the streets, in the same situation, instead of facilitating 
linkage to resources in the Berkeley community.  The substantial number of unhoused persons that 
receive 5150 transport has resulted in 2.4 million of Measure P monies, allocated for homeless services, 
directed towards this transport. 
 

Page 23 of 68

Page 407



 
Berkeley Homeless Commission 
 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail : jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info - http://www.cityofberkeley.info/housing/ 

BACKGROUND: On October 13, 2021, the Homeless Commission passed a motion as follows: 
 
That City Council refer to the City Manager to develop a crisis stabilization program based on the Bend. 
Oregon crisis stabilization model tailored to Berkeley, consistent with Councilmember Terry Taplin's 
proposal for same and that this report be incorporated into the Homeless Commission's recommendation. 
 
M/S:                                                                                Yes:                                                         Noes: 
 
Abstentions: 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY and CLIMATE IMPACT:  Following the implementation of a crisis 
stabilization program, a substantial number of persons in mental health crisis will be diverted away from 
transport to farther away unnecessary institutionalization and incarceration into a community-based 
model in their own Berkeley community.      
 
RATIONALE for RECOMMENDATION:  As an independent mental health division, Berkeley has a 
responsibility to step up and establish appropriate treatment community mental health models that are 
community-based.  At this juncture, persons in mental health crisis have no local place to stabilize and 
voluntarily seek assistance, to take respite and to intensively linked up with other services on a 24/7 
model. The Berkeley Police Department has no location to bring persons in mental health crisis other 
than the inappropriate ones provided by the County. 
 
Bend, Oregon has successfully implemented a 23 hour crisis stabilization program that is an excellent 
model for Berkeley to tailor to Berkeley needs.   
 
There are multiple reasons that the Bend model would work in Berkeley. First, Bend's population, at 
93,917, is similar to Berkeley's in numbers. The Bend program is a 24/7 program with recliners where 
people rest while they are provided intensive mental health support and linkage to community resources 
as needed.  Unlike some crisis stabilization programs elsewhere, Bend's crisis stabilization program is 
focused on mental health needs. It is not a program directed exclusively towards sobriety or a homeless 
shelter as are some programs elsewhere. Albeit that they have behavioral health clinicians on staff, 
Bend's focus is not a medical model.  With Bend's current increasing homelessness. they estimate that 
30% of persons in mental health crisis utilizing their crisis stabilization program are of homeless status. 
 
Bend's program takes walk-ins unlike some programs. Any person seeking mental health crisis 
stabilization can walk in voluntarily on a 24/7 basis. There are no financial eligibility requirements. Thus, 
whether or not a person is medically insured, they will be easily welcomed and accepted into Bend's 
mental health crisis stabilization program. Persons can come in from any source as long as they 
voluntarily choose to do so. 
 
When law enforcement engages with a person in mental health crisis in Bend, they present them with 
three options: the inpatient mental health facility, the jail or the crisis stabilization program. The choice is 
that of the person in crisis. They will not otherwise be involuntarily directed into the program but provided 
the three options where they can be transported.  Persons in mental health crisis frequently choose the 
crisis stabilization program.  Doing so not only allows them to receive respite and linkage to resources 
within their own community, it frees them from the stigma of being involuntarily committed or incarcerated. 
 
A survey of participants in the Bend crisis stabilization program revealed that 3% of persons in mental 
health crisis who had come to the program (37 persons) had stated that had they not come to the 

Page 24 of 68

Page 408



Berkeley Homeless Commission 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail : jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info - http://www.cityofberkeley.info/housing/

program, they would have taken their lives. There is no greater cost-effectiveness than the cost of saving 
human lives. 

Bend also found that when there was a transport from law enforcement, law enforcement spent only an 
average of four minutes transitioning persons into the crisis stabilization program as opposed to far longer 
time required of law enforcement when a person in mental health crisis was directed towards 
institutionalization or incarceration. 

Berkeley's direction will have one distinction in that the Bend program is operated by their County which 
has an elaborate crisis system.  Berkeley's program would be based in Berkeley and contracted out to a 
nonprofit provider competent to provide 24/7 crisis stabilization program services.  

The issues that will have to be addressed by the City Manager's office, which, in part, will be within 
Councilmember Terry Taplin's proposal, will be funding issues, staffing (both numbers and qualifications) 
and location. 

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED: The only alternative is to do nothing and to be complicit with 
the County in providing a lack of appropriate community-based mental health services for persons in 
mental health crisis. 

CITY MANAGER: 

CONTACT: Josh Jacobs, Homeless Services Coordinator, (510) 981-5435 

Attachment: Powerpoint presentation from Bend, Oregon 

Page 25 of 68

Page 409



Page 26 of 68

Page 410



Page 27 of 68

Page 411



Page 28 of 68

Page 412



Page 29 of 68

Page 413



Page 30 of 68

Page 414



Page 31 of 68

Page 415



Page 32 of 68

Page 416



Page 33 of 68

Page 417



Page 34 of 68

Page 418



Page 35 of 68

Page 419



Page 36 of 68

Page 420



Page 37 of 68

Page 421



Page 38 of 68

Page 422



Page 39 of 68

Page 423



Page 40 of 68

Page 424



Page 41 of 68

Page 425



Page 42 of 68

Page 426



Page 43 of 68

Page 427



Page 44 of 68

Page 428



Page 45 of 68

Page 429



Page 46 of 68

Page 430



Page 47 of 68

Page 431



Page 48 of 68

Page 432



Page 49 of 68

Page 433



Page 50 of 68

Page 434



Page 51 of 68

Page 435



Page 52 of 68

Page 436



Page 53 of 68

Page 437



Page 54 of 68

Page 438



Page 55 of 68

Page 439



Page 56 of 68

Page 440



Page 57 of 68

Page 441



Page 58 of 68

Page 442



Page 59 of 68

Page 443



Page 60 of 68

Page 444



Page 61 of 68

Page 445



Page 62 of 68

Page 446



Berkeley Homeless Commission 

2180 Milvia Street, 5th Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.255.8035    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510.981.5450 
E-mail : jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info - http://www.cityofberkeley.info/housing/

MEETING MINUTES  

November 15, 2021 
1. Roll Call: 7:00 PM

Present: Kealoha-Blake (absent until 7:07), Marasovic, Andrew, Gomez.
Absent: Behm-Steinberg.
Staff: Jacobs, McCormick.
Council: None.
Public: 5.

2. Public Comment: 0

3. Approval of minutes from September 8, 2021 and October 13, 2021.

Action: M/S/C Andrew/Marasovic move to approve the minutes as written.

Vote:  Ayes: Marasovic, Andrew, Gomez.
     Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: Behm-Steinberg, Kealoha-Blake 

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Gomez move to approve the minutes as written. 

Vote:  Ayes: Marasovic, Andrew, Gomez. 
     Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: Behm-Steinberg, Kealoha-Blake 

Updates/Action Items: 

4. Agenda Approval

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Gomez move to approve the agenda as written.

Vote:  Ayes: Marasovic, Andrew, Gomez, Kealoha-Blake.
     Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: Behm-Steinberg. 

5. HOME ARP Application Review.

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Gomez move to strongly support the staff
recommendation for the HOME ARP Application for Home Key.

Vote:  Ayes: Marasovic, Andrew, Gomez, Kealoha-Blake.
     Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: Behm-Steinberg. 

Page 63 of 68

Page 447



Homeless Commission Meeting Draft Minutes  
November 15, 2021 
 

6. Chair and Vice-Chair Update. 
 

Discussion; no action taken.  
 

7. Staff update explaining stats on crisis queue and housing queue. 
  

Discussion; no action taken. 
 

8. Crisis stabilization program proposed recommendation. 
 

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Gomez move to request City Council refer to the City 
Manager to develop a crisis stabilization program based on the Bend. Oregon crisis 
stabilization model tailored to Berkeley, consistent and that this report be 
incorporated into the Homeless Commission's recommendation. 

 
Vote:  Ayes: Marasovic, Gomez, Kealoha-Blake.  

     Noes: None.  Abstain: Andrew. Absent: Behm-Steinberg. 
 
9. Staff update on incorporating stakeholders into planning for Point-in-Time Count, per 

April, 14, 2020 Council Consent Calendar acting on Homeless Commission 
recommendation, and coordination with the County. 

 
Discussion; no action taken. 

 
10. Discussion and possible action item on South Berkeley Homeless Outreach 

Coordinator on November 16, 2021 Council Agenda. 
 

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Gomez move to support the submission of a letter to 
Council, as written, opposing the establishment of a Homeless Outreach Coordinator 
limited to South Berkeley and recommends that those $200,000. in proposed monies 
be directed towards housing homeless persons. 

 
Vote:  Ayes: Marasovic, Andrew, Gomez, Kealoha-Blake.  

     Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: Behm-Steinberg. 
 
11. Discussion and possible action on extending date and scope of storm shelter to 

other emergencies. 
  

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Kealoha-Blake move to extend the meeting by 10 
minutes. 

 
Vote:  Ayes: Marasovic, Gomez, Kealoha-Blake.  

     Noes: Andrew.  Abstain: None. Absent: Behm-Steinberg. 
 
Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Kealoha-Blake move that City Council refer to the City 
Manager to expand the emergency storm shelter program to emergencies not 
otherwise covered including outside the dates of the current contract with Dorothy 
Day House. 

 

Page 64 of 68

Page 448



Homeless Commission Meeting Draft Minutes  
November 15, 2021 
 

Vote:  Ayes: Marasovic, Andrew, Gomez, Kealoha-Blake.  
     Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: Behm-Steinberg. 
 

 
12. Discussion Update from City Manager’s office or designee on RV lot and Eighth and 

Harrison residents. 
 

Discussion; no action taken. 
 

Meeting adjourned at 9:10 PM 
 

                                     Minutes Approved on: ______________________ 
 
                 Josh Jacobs, Commission Secretary: ____________________ 

 
 

1.12.22

Page 65 of 68

Page 449



 
Berkeley Homeless  
Services Panel of Experts 
 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 
 

2180 Milvia Street, 5th Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.225.8035    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | Homeless Services Panel of Experts  

MEETING MINUTES  
February 2, 2022 

 
1. Roll Call: 7:00 PM 

Present:  Marasovic, Bookstein, Kealoha-Blake, Scheider (absent until 7:04), De la 
Guardia, Carrasco (absent until 7:04). 

Absent:  None.  
Staff:  Jacobs, McCormick.  
Council:  None. 
Public: 7 

2. Comments from the Public: 0 
 
Update/Action Items 
3. Approval of Minutes from January 5, 2021. 

 
Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Kealoha-Blake move to approve the minutes as amended 
to change item 8 to include that zero dollars were spent in this fiscal year and to 
include on item 9 that 600,000k has been spent for 5150 transport.  
 
Vote:   Ayes:  Marasovic, Bookstein, Kealoha-Blake, De la Guardia,  
            Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: Scheider, Carrasco. 

 
4. Agenda Approval.  
 

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Kealoha-Blake move to approve the agenda as written.  
 

Vote:   Ayes:  Marasovic, Bookstein, Kealoha-Blake, Scheider, De la Guardia, 
Carrasco. 

            Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None. 
 
5. Chair update. 
 

Discussion; no action taken. 
 
6. Presentation on crisis stabilization program model in Bend, Oregon with Q&A and 

Commission discussion. 
 

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Bookstein move to support the Homeless Commission 
recommendation to the City Manager to consider establishing a 24/7 crisis 
stabilization program based on the Bend, Oregon model tailored to Berkeley with 

Page 66 of 68

Page 450



Homeless Services Panel of Experts 
February 2, 2022 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 

2180 Milvia Street, 5th Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.225.8035    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | Homeless Services Panel of Experts

Measure P funding that partners with medical, police, and community-based 
organizations.  

Vote:   Ayes:  Marasovic, Bookstein, Kealoha-Blake, Scheider, De la Guardia, 
Carrasco. 

 Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None. 

7. Presentation on family homelessness with Q&A and Commission discussion.

Discussion; no action taken.
Action: M/S/C Scheider/Marasovic move to extend the meeting to 9:20 pm and to
agenda this for next month’s meeting.

Vote:   Ayes:  Marasovic, Bookstein, Kealoha-Blake, Scheider, De la Guardia,
Carrasco. 

 Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None. 

8. Staff to provide presentation of all streams of City funding allocated for services,
across divisions, provided to the homeless population.

Discussion; no action taken.

9. Staff to update on homeless Point-in-Time Count.

Discussion; no action taken.

10. Chair and Vice-Chair election.

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Kealoha-Blake move to elect Carole Marasovic as Chair
and Michael de la Guardia as Vice Chair.

Vote:   Ayes:  Marasovic, Bookstein, Kealoha-Blake, Scheider, De la Guardia,
Carrasco. 

 Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None. 

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Bookstein move to elect Michael de la Guardia as Vice 
Chair.  

Vote:   Ayes:  Marasovic, Bookstein, Kealoha-Blake, Scheider, De la Guardia, 
Carrasco. 

 Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None. 

11. Adjourn.

Meeting adjourned at 9:08 PM. 

Page 67 of 68

Page 451



Homeless Services Panel of Experts 
February 2, 2022 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 

2180 Milvia Street, 5th Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.225.8035    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | Homeless Services Panel of Experts

Minutes Approved on: _________________________ 

Josh Jacobs, Commission Secretary: 

Page 68 of 68

Page 452



2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099 
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info  Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

Department of Health, Housing, & Community Services 

 April 7, 2022 

To: Housing Advisory Commission 

From: Anna Cash, Partnership for Bay’s Future Fellow, Health, Housing, and 
Community Services 

Mike Uberti, Senior Community Development Project Coordinator, Health, 
Housing, and Community Services 

Subject: Housing Preference Policy 

RECOMMENDATION  
Staff is requesting the Housing Advisory Commission (HAC) consider the 
implementation information in this report in combination with the policy options 
presented at the February 3, 2022 meeting to recommend preference options for a 
Housing Preference Policy.  

SUMMARY  
A Housing Preference Policy (HPP) will assist people with ties to Berkeley, households 
with children, and residents experiencing homelessness, to receive priority for new 
affordable housing units. The HPP is intended to apply to units created by the City’s 
Below Market Rate (BMR) and non-profit affordable Housing Trust Fund (HTF) 
programs.  

As part of a Partnership for the Bay’s Future (PBF) Challenge Grant, the City of 
Berkeley has been working with community partners East Bay Community Law Center 
(EBCLC) and Healthy Black Families (HBF) to engage in a community-driven process to 
design the Housing Preference Policy.  

This policy would not automatically apply to existing affordable units due to regulatory 
agreements that regulate specific properties. Preferences will not apply to Shelter Plus 
Care units assigned under the BMR program as they are case-managed and do not 
have a lottery system. It is still being determined how the Housing Portal will incorporate 
Section 8 assigned BMR units; applicability to those units will be dependent on whether 
they are included on the Housing Portal. Staff are advocating for Section 8 vouchers to 
be included on the Housing Portal. The policy’s applicability to HTF units may vary 
dependent on the use of state and/or federal funding sources that carry specific 
residency requirements (e.g., Homeless, Seniors, Transition Aged Youth).  

Fair Housing law requires a disparate impact analysis (DIA) for preferences. This 
analysis assesses how racial groups and protected classes will be impacted by a 
preference policy and determines what percentage of units can receive preferences 

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 4



Housing Preference Policy                                                                                                      April 7, 2022 
  

 
 

without creating disparate impacts on protected classes under state or federal law. 
Other funding agencies (county, state, federal) that contribute funding to the City’s 
nonprofit affordable housing need to approve this analysis before permitting use of a 
preference policy on those units. Staff’s intent is for the policy to be applied to the 
maximum percentage of units permitted by disparate impact analysis. Research from 
other cities shows this analysis will limit the number of affordable housing units the 
policy can apply to; it will not be able to be applied to 100% of units. This analysis also 
has implications for the timeline of applying preferences to HTF units. 
 
A previous report for the February HAC meeting focused on policy options, including the 
outreach and research conducted to develop these recommendations. The policy 
options that Staff put forward in that meeting are summarized in Attachment 1, and 
materials from that meeting can be found on the HAC website: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-
_Commissions/HAC%20agenda%20PACKET%202022-02-03.pdf.  
 
This memo focuses on implementation considerations, including adoption, disparate 
impact analysis, timeline, alignment with existing programs/policies, program 
implementation, and staffing. 
 
DISPARATE IMPACT ANALYSIS 
County, state, and federal agencies will require approval for Preferences for any 
projects they fund (i.e., the City’s HTF-supported properties). It is important to note that 
this approval can take several months and occurs on a project-by-project basis. These 
approvals will not be relevant for BMR units as no funding applies to these programs. 
These approvals will typically include DIA. DIA assesses how racial groups and 
protected classes will be impacted by a preference policy and determines what 
percentage of units can receive Preferences without creating disparate impacts on a 
protected class.  
 
DIA dictates what percentage of units the preference policy can be applied to. Staff’s 
intent is for the policy to be applied to the maximum percentage of units permitted by 
DIA. Research from other cities shows that this analysis will limit the number of 
affordable housing units the policy can apply to; it will not be able to be applied to 100% 
of units. Preferences will not be able to be implemented on HTF units until DIA has 
been approved by the relevant funding agencies.  
 
Disparate Impact Analysis Plan 
Any proposed preferences may require DIA, to the extent that racial demographic 
information is available. Geography-based preferences, such as the proposed redlined 
areas preference, will require a DIA based on precedent from other cities. In San 
Francisco, a disparate impact analysis found that setting aside 40% of units in the 
lottery for people meeting a neighborhood preference would not have a disparate 
impact.1 The policy options proposed by staff mimic the success of San Francisco and 

                                            
1 The US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) determined in 2016 that it could not 
support this neighborhood preference on a specific project, the Willie B. Kennedy Apartments. In this 

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 5



Housing Preference Policy                                                                                                      April 7, 2022 
  

 
 

Portland to address historic racial disparities while balancing the demands of Fair 
Housing law.  
 
Staff have been in contact with California Department of Housing and Community 
Development (HCD) about the agency’s forthcoming guidelines on assessment of 
preference policies. The timing of the release of these guidelines will impact Staff’s 
ability to move forward DIA efforts. Staff may recommend hiring a consultant to conduct 
DIA dependent on the scale and need. DIA will be conducted on HAC’s policy 
recommendations in order to inform Council decisions.2  
 
 
IMPLEMENTATION 
Timeline 
A Housing Preference Policy would need to have a phased adoption process: 

A. Conduct DIA on recommendations  
B. Adoption of HPP by City Council  
C. Adopt Administrative Guidelines and align policy with other policies/programs 
D. Conduct education and outreach for property managers and prospective tenants 
E. Coordinate preferences with the Housing Portal and apply HPP to BMR units 
F. DIA approvals process for HTF (nonprofit affordable) units as needed 
G. Data collection and assessment with racial equity framework 

 
A phased approach provides an opportunity to pilot the implementation of the 
preferences on eligible BMR units, which come online in smaller quantities than HTF 
projects. Staff will collect data and assess how the policy is meeting its goals while DIA 
is going through the approvals process. It is not clear when HCD will release their 
guidelines, and how long the approval processes may take. It is possible that approvals 
will take several months. 
 
Overall Process  
The City is currently transitioning its new BMR and HTF leasing process to the Alameda 
County Housing Portal (“Housing Portal”). The Housing Portal will incorporate the City’s 
Preferences into the uniform application. The Preferences will create a point system that 
will apply to lotteries for new listings. An applicant may select as many Preferences as 
they qualify for to receive a priority.  
 
Staff met with representatives from local affordable housing providers to discuss 
application and verification models. This planning ensured the proposed policy options 

                                            
case, the surrounding neighborhood had disproportionately more white residents than the overall city. 
The City proposed and was approved for an alternative preference, based on neighborhoods’ 
displacement risk level.  
2 See Redwood City’s Request for Proposals for a DIA consultant 
(https://www.redwoodcity.org/Home/Components/RFP/RFP/1516/4032), and analysis conducted 
(https://meetings.redwoodcity.org/AgendaOnline/Documents/ViewDocument/ATTACHMENT%20D%20%
E2%80%93%20LIVE-
WORK%20POLICY%20ANALYSIS%20BY%20SEIFEL%20CONSULTING.pdf?meetingId=2250&docume
ntType=Agenda&itemId=5223&publishId=9209&isSection=false).  

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 6



Housing Preference Policy                                                                                                      April 7, 2022 
  

 
 

are consistent with the City’s current practices for application and verification. Staff will 
document these processes in administrative guidelines and regulatory agreements to 
ensure a standardized applicability.  
 
Existing Residency Requirements 
Both BMR and HTF units have established residency requirements that would not have 
Preferences applied: 

A. BMR: BMR projects that have units affordable to very low-income households 
(up to 50% of area median income) are required to dedicate those units to 
residents with Section 8 vouchers or Shelter Plus Care certificates. Preferences 
will not apply to Shelter Plus Care units as they are case-managed, and do not 
have a lottery system. It is still being determined how the Housing Portal will 
incorporate Section 8 units; applicability to those units will be dependent on 
whether they are included on the Housing Portal. Staff are advocating for Section 
8 vouchers to be included on the Housing Portal.  

B. HTF: HTF projects are typically funded by a variety of sources, including the 
State of California’s Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) 
and the federal Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). These 
agencies will need to approve any Preferences that apply to a project with their 
funding. Typical projects also carry specific residency requirements that may or 
may not support preferences, such as senior housing. Preferences will not apply 
to units that are case-managed with targeted funding, such as Coordinated Entry 
for homeless households, as they do not use a lottery.  

Preferences would be applied to units that are filled via Housing Portal 
applications, applying to the maximum number of HTF units permitted by a 
disparate impact analysis. Different funding sources will be reviewed for the 
overlap in their residency requirements with the Preferences. Regulatory 
agreements will indicate how to apply Preferences consistent with funding 
requirements (if possible). In instances where specific residency requirements 
apply, preferences could be used to re-sort lottery rankings for applicants that 
meet funding-tied residency requirements, before lottery results are finalized. 
Staff will need to work with property managers and developers to determine an 
efficient implementation strategy for lotteries.  

Policy Goals & Legal Considerations 
There was also discussion at the February Housing Advisory Commission meeting of a 
race-specific preference for Black/African American applicants. This was a priority 
recommendation of the Community Leaders Group and a priority in the Healthy Black 
Families’ “Right to Return, Right to Stay” survey. The goal of such a preference would 
be to address Berkeley’s history of housing and racial injustices, particularly to the 
African American community.  
 
Staff recognizes this history of racial discrimination in Berkeley and its ongoing impacts. 
For example, 83% of today's gentrifying areas in the East Bay were rated as 

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 7



Housing Preference Policy                                                                                                      April 7, 2022 
  

 
 

"hazardous" (red) or "definitely declining" (yellow) by HOLC during redlining.3 The 
existing segregation of communities caused by government redlining, as well as by local 
exclusionary zoning policies, enabled the racialized component of the foreclosure crisis, 
as redlining created large areas of concentrated communities of color into which 
subprime loans were channeled. And Black people have been disproportionately 
displaced from Berkeley. Between 1990 to 2018, Berkeley lost 49% of its Black 
population. Between 2000 to 2018, while Berkeley’s African-American household 
population decreased, Berkeley’s white, Latinx and Asian household populations all 
grew slightly. Black people are disproportionately represented in Berkeley’s homeless 
population; since 2006, 65% of homeless service users in Berkeley are African-
American, when African-American people comprise less than 8% of the overall 
population. 
 
Staff appreciates the work of the Community Leaders Group to craft comprehensive 
recommendations and, together with partners on the Challenge Grant, made extensive 
efforts to put forward policy options for the Housing Advisory Commission’s 
consideration that are responsive to and inclusive of the Community Leaders Group’s 
work and knowledge. This included historical research on racial discrimination in 
housing in Berkeley. In addition, EBCLC conducted legal research on potential legal 
pathways for a race-specific preference. Staff, the City Attorney’s Office, and EBCLC 
explored potential avenues to accommodate this recommendation in depth.  However, 
given current legal frameworks described below, a legal strategy was not identified that 
would be defensible in court.  
 
Race-specific preferences are not permissible under California’s Proposition 209, which 
amended the California constitution to prohibit governmental institutions from 
considering race, sex, or ethnicity, in the areas of public employment, public contracting, 
and public education. Publicly funded affordable housing is a form of public contracting. 
Race-specific preferences are generally impermissible under the Equal Protection 
clause of the 14th amendment of the United States Constitution, which guarantees that 
no person or class of people can be denied the same protections under the law that are 
enjoyed by others. A legal brief that details the legal limitations of preferences – 
including Fair Housing law and constitutional challenges – is included as Attachment 2. 
 
The City of Berkeley is currently making historic investments in affordable housing. 
Ensuring that new affordable housing units can be made available to those with ties to 
Berkeley, and particularly to those that have faced discrimination, is identified as a top 
priority by Council and the community. Staff recognizes the community’s demand to 
account for historic injustice to Berkeley’s communities of color. The proposed policy 
options are intended to provide a pathway to legally implement a policy that will achieve 
these outcomes in the near-term.  
 
The proposed policy options aim to address racial equity through preferences, including: 

                                            
3 See https://www.urbandisplacement.org/about/what-are-gentrification-and-displacement/.  

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 8



Housing Preference Policy                                                                                                      April 7, 2022 
  

 
 

o First priority for those who lost their homes due to eminent domain during the 
construction of Ashby and North Berkeley BART stations, which impacted African 
American families;4 

o Preference for applicants with residential ties to Berkeley’s redlined areas, where 
African American households were predominantly concentrated due to 
exclusionary policies; 

o Preference for those displaced by foreclosure, which disproportionately impacted 
African American households, and; 

o Preference for homeless applicants and those at-risk of homelessness; Black 
people are disproportionately represented in Berkeley’s homeless population. 

 
This proposal aims to account for legal limitations and achieve racial equity outcomes 
that will begin to mitigate displacement and help community members who have been 
displaced return to the community. These policy options were shared with the 
Community Leader’s Group prior to coming to the commission (Attachment 1).   
 
These policy options are intended to recognize historic racial injustice caused and/or 
facilitated by government action and the ongoing displacement of Berkeley’s African 
American community. The City will implement a racial equity framework to monitor and 
report on the outcomes of the adopted policy.  
 
Attachments: 
 
Attachment 1: Policy Options Summary  
Attachment 2: Columbia Law Review: Perpetuating segregation or turning discrimination 
on its head? Affordable housing residency preferences as anti-displacement measures. 
Weblink: https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turning-
discrimination-on-its-head-affordable-housing-residency-preferences-as-anti-
displacement-measures/  
Attachment 3: Staffing  
 
 
 
 
  

                                            
4 LA Times coverage of the pilot program in Santa Monica to give preference to those displaced by 
eminent domain and their descendants highlights that Black people who lost their homes to eminent 
domain had more constrained options than their white counterparts. This was due to lower assessed 
home values for Black families, and segregation in the broader housing market. See 
https://www.latimes.com/podcasts/story/2022-01-31/the-times-podcast-santa-monica-evictions-10-
freeway-construction. 

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 9



Housing Preference Policy                                                                                                      April 7, 2022 
  

 
 

Attachment 1. Policy Options 
 
The policy options below were presented at the February 3, 2022 Housing Advisory 
Commission meeting. These policy options are the product of community outreach and 
research described in the report for the February 3 HAC meeting, which is available at 
this link: https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-
_Commissions/HAC%20agenda%20PACKET%202022-02-03.pdf.  
 

Preference Proposed Preference Details 

Displacement due to 
eminent domain for 
BART 

First priority, separate lottery: Descendant of someone 
whose home was seized via eminent domain to develop 
Ashby/North Berkeley BART. 

Displaced due to 
foreclosure 

1 point: Displaced due to foreclosure in Berkeley since 
2005. 

Families with children 1 point: household with at least one child aged 18 or 
under. 

Homeless or at risk of 
homelessness 

1 point: At-Risk of Homelessness in Berkeley/with former 
address in Berkeley 
OR 1 point: Literally Homeless in North Alameda County 

Ties to redlined areas 1 point: Residential ties to Berkeley’s redlined areas – 
current or former address of applicant. 

Ties to redlined areas – 
historical 

1 point: Residential ties to Berkeley’s redlined areas – 
current or former address of parent/guardian or 
grandparent of applicant. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 10



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

1 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 11



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

2 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 12



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

3 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 13



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

4 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 14



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

5 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 15



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

6 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 16



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

7 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 17



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

8 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 18



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

9 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 19



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

10 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 20



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

11 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 21



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

12 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 22



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

13 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 23



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

14 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 24



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

15 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 25



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

16 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 26



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

17 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 27



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

18 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 28



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

19 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 29



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

20 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 30



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

21 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 31



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

22 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 32



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

23 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 33



PERPETUATING SEGREGATION OR TURNING DISCRIMINATIO... https://columbialawreview.org/content/perpetuating-segregation-or-turni...

24 of 25 3/31/2022, 4:18 PM

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 34



Housing Preference Policy                                                                                                      April 7, 2022 
  

 
 

Attachment 3. Staffing 
 
STAFFING 
Staffing in Other Cities 
The below table outlines the preferences, housing type, staffing levels, key staff 
responsibilities, and institution responsible for screening for preference (developer or 
City) in other cities with preference policies.5 
 
City Preferences Housing 

Type(s) 
Staff 
Level 
(FTE
s) 

Key Responsibilities Institution 
Responsible 
for 
Screening 
for 
Preference 

Santa 
Monica 

-Displaced 6 
-Live/work 
 
-Current pilot: 
displaced by 
urban 
renewal/emine
nt domain 

Inclusionary 
and 
Nonprofit 

1 
(add'l 
when 
list 
open) 

• Compliance 
monitoring for 
inclusionary and 
nonprofit units 

• Ongoing waitlist 
management and 
tenant referrals for 
inclusionary units  

• Verify preference 
qualifications for 
displacement 
preference 

Developer  
 
(City for 
displacement 
preference, 
urban 
renewal pilot) 

Cambridge -Current 
resident  
-Families with 
children  
-Emergency 
needs7  
-Works in 
Cambridge  

Inclusionary 2.5 • Work with applicants 
applying to the Rental 
Applicant Pool 

• Screen applications 
against the priority 
point system 

• Fill vacancies across 
the portfolio 

• Certify applicants’ 
income during the 
final application stage 

• Re-certify tenant 
incomes after lease-
up 

City 

                                            
5 This information is up-to-date as of this 2019 report: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Housing/Level_3_-
_General/Preference%20Policy%20DCRP%20Report.pdf. More recent information was added on Santa 
Monica’s urban renewal pilot, based on an interview with Santa Monica housing staff in January 2022. 
6 Santa Monica’s displaced category includes no-fault evictions, natural disasters, reduction in housing 
voucher assistance, or government action 
7 Cambridge’s emergency needs category includes no-fault eviction, homeless, overcrowded housing, 
50% or greater rent burden, outstanding code violations. 
 

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 35



Housing Preference Policy                                                                                                      April 7, 2022 
  

 
 

City Preferences Housing 
Type(s) 

Staff 
Level 
(FTE
s) 

Key Responsibilities Institution 
Responsible 
for 
Screening 
for 
Preference 

San 
Francisco 

-Displaced - 
urban renewal  
-Displaced - 
no-fault 
evictions or 
fires  
-Neighborhood  
-Live/work 

Inclusionary 
and 

Nonprofit 

5.25 • Lottery administration 

• Marketing vacant 
nonprofit and 
inclusionary units 

• Annual reporting 
related to the 
preference program 

• Reviewing applicants’ 
documentation 
related to preference 
eligibility during the 
lottery and lease-up 
processes. 

City 

Portland -Displaced – 
eminent 
domain 
-Address in 
Interstate 
Corridor Urban 
Renewal Area  
-Parent/ 
grandparent 
address in 
Interstate 
Corridor Urban 
Renewal Area 

Nonprofit in 
Interstate 
Corridor 

Urban 
Renewal 

Area 

1.5 
(up to 
4 
when 
leas-
ing) 

• Ongoing 
management of the 
preference policy 
waitlists  

• Conduct outreach 
and assist applicants 

• Process applications 

• Verify preference 
qualifications 

• Refer prospective 
tenants to property 
managers. 

City  

Oakland -Displaced8   
-Neighborhood 
-Live/work 

Nonprofit 0.5 • Monitoring annual 
reporting from rental 
projects in the City’s 
portfolio - involves 
reviewing tenant 
rents and income, but 
staff may also review 
the preference 
qualifications of new 
tenants.  

Developer 

 
Staffing Needs by Phase 
Staff responsibilities, at a minimum, will include aligning a policy with current 
programs/polices, verifying preference documentation, developing educational materials 
for both prospective applicants and property managers, training property managers on 

                                            
8 Oakland’s displaced category includes government action, code enforcement, and no-fault eviction. 

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 36



Housing Preference Policy                                                                                                      April 7, 2022 
  

 
 

proper document collection and lottery criteria, education for the public, collecting data, 
and compiling evaluation reports with recommendations for continued success.  

 
Staffing needs will vary by phase, as there will be some needs specific to establishing 
the program, while others will be ongoing over time for sustainable program 
implementation. Staff are concurrently working with other jurisdictions in Alameda 
County to establish a unified Housing Portal for online applications for BMR and HTF 
units that will effect how preferences are implemented over the long-term.  
 
Staffing Needs – Program Set-Up 
Staffing needs during program set-up will include: 

A. Adopting or amending relevant Administrative Guidelines   
B. Aligning with other policies and programs 
C. Education and outreach  
D. Establishing monitoring plans 
E. Seeking policy approval with funding agencies  

 
Staffing Needs – Ongoing  
Ongoing staffing needs will include:  

A. Education and outreach  
B. Implementation – verifying and filing preferences 
C. Ongoing monitoring and evaluation with racial equity framework 
D. Seeking ongoing funding agency approvals as needed for HTF housing 

 
Staffing Needs by Program  
Staffing needs will also vary between BMR and HTF units. Currently, City staff verify 
BMR documentation prior to lease-up, and monitor HTF documentation annually 
following lease-up. Implementation of the Housing Preference Policy may represent a 
change in which City HTF monitors play a more active role in documentation verification 
prior to lease-up. BMR monitor workload would also increase, with the increased 
documentation needing to be verified for preferences. Existing documentation pertains 
to income, household size, and program eligibility.   
 

HAC 04/07/2022 
Attachment 2

HAC PAGE 37



4/6/22, 12:40 PM City moves to put safe injection site at former Geary Street Goodwill

https://hoodline.com/2021/11/city-moves-to-put-safe-injection-site-at-former-geary-street-goodwill/ 1/3

Click Here For More Information
Don't miss this content from our sponsor

Ad by Sponsor See More

City moves to put safe injection site at former Geary Street Goodwill

San Francisco mayor London Breed has been pushing for a safe injection site since long before she was mayor. But

with the overdose crisis reaching record levels during COVID-19, the need for a facility where people can use drugs

under the supervision of medical professionals has a new urgency. That’s why Mayor Breed introduced legislation to buy

a building and convert it into a safe injection site on Tuesday, the Chronicle reports, in a part of the Tenderloin where

a disproportionate number of these overdoses take place.  

“We have been wanting to do this for a long time, especially in light of the significant increase in the number of

overdose deaths in our city,” Breed told the Chronicle. “We have to get this site open.”

The building in question is a former Goodwill at 822 Geary Street (at Hyde Street), currently vacant and coated with

graffiti. The city has not yet bought the building, but is now considering Breed’s legislation to buy the spot for $6.3

million and converting the site for that purpose.

But the move is fraught with legal risk, which is why there are currently no safe injection sites in the U.S. (Rhode Island

is working on a pilot program.) Since the drugs being used on a theoretical site would be illegal, anyone working there

could be subject to prosecution, and the city could be fined, or even have the property seized.

New city attorney David Chiu would have to defend the city in such cases. His spokesperson tells the Chronicle merely

that he intends to “provide sound, confidential legal advice to the mayor, Board of Supervisors, and city departments.”

Even if the facility were not a safe injection site, the Department of Public Health could still use it as some form of drug

treatment service facility.

San Francisco Tenderloin

By Joe Kukura - Published on November 17, 2021.

San Francisco Tenderloin

Image: Google Street View

https://www.amazon.com/gp/video/offers?aaxitk=671e30159f68639add5e4b6834fca556&ref=aap_589833376261232520&tag=ss-us-20&benefitId=discoveryplus
https://hoodline.com/2017/05/city-launches-task-force-to-study-safe-sites-for-injection-drug-users/
https://sfist.com/2021/05/23/as-drug-overdoses-hit-all-time-high-mayor-breed-proposes-new-street-response-team/
https://www.sfchronicle.com/sf/article/S-F-working-to-open-supervised-drug-use-site-by-16626514.php
https://www.wsj.com/articles/rhode-island-set-to-be-first-state-to-pilot-safe-injection-sites-for-drug-users-11635067801
https://hoodline.com/news/san-francisco/
https://hoodline.com/neighborhoods/tenderloin/
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/pcs/click?xai=AKAOjsvpPideZgu9LkMRxBQECx9HddT_U3YAm9xYVix2xizGLZlul-zKuV5mEJ52aC5_f0cJlHsgL18h9GVdcwEHxnx-NmmT_-SArNAwudlsuQVfEiqRKtp3YLS1xAUZLHvZSmBLSJNcmXj9Zw0y&sai=AMfl-YRd3MfpdXskLKRBFsXM353nAHFa1NtWjnKCOMEKYDDosNXSyZUG1R-RTjKN_moPOCO0zWw3sWVPj3RcUDgnawnVRJASG9ZOItqL-FZthST5&sig=Cg0ArKJSzLQJyXTxv49d&cry=1&fbs_aeid=[gw_fbsaeid]&urlfix=1&adurl=http://insight.adsrvr.org/track/clk%3Fimp%3D27915c1d-7c6f-4db9-ab68-6ccad04dcd1e%26ag%3D3zauwer%26sfe%3D14856c9a%26sig%3DXAXdTix9IBdThYIcZUuFacWrW6rh5H2v2BRbypd9x8Y.%26crid%3Dnfnfey62%26cf%3D3196375%26fq%3D0%26t%3D1%26td_s%3Dhoodline.com%26rcats%3Dy29,v8t%26mcat%3Ddoubleverify-vd2iab-30%26mste%3Dhoodline.com%26mfld%3D4%26mssi%3D%26mfsi%3D%26sv%3Dopenx%26uhow%3D84%26agsa%3D%26wp%3DAAABgABkPg62vBtrWg5dio7mFXVsmMcXk1wREA%26rgz%3D94703%26dt%3DPC%26osf%3DWindows%26os%3DWindows10%26br%3DChrome%26svpid%3D541000958%26rlangs%3Den%26mlang%3D%26did%3D%26rcxt%3DOther%26tmpc%3D23.04%26vrtd%3D%26osi%3D%26osv%3D%26daid%3D%26dnr%3D0%26vpb%3D%26c%3DCg1Vbml0ZWQgU3RhdGVzEgpDYWxpZm9ybmlhGgM4MDciCEJlcmtlbGV5OAJQAYABAYgBAZABAQ..%26dur%3DCiYKDWNoYXJnZS1hbGwtMzAiFQji__________8BEghpYXhkMDA2aQqBAQoHYmpjczh2dBCbOSIOCJ6nmQESB2ZqbmFmZWQiDgiKgLpeEgdiazdpbmZvIhQIioC6XhINZGExN2luZm9ncm91cCIWCNHT5G8SD2xkczM5bGl2ZW5hdGlvbiIVCPu7lnUSDkFsbGlhbmNlRXllb3RhIg4I-7uWdRIHZno4Njd2ZQowCgxjaGFyZ2UtYWxsLTEiIAj___________8BEhN0dGRfZGF0YV9leGNsdXNpb25zCi8KGGNoYXJnZS1tYXhQZWVyMzlDYXRlZ29yeSITCP3__________wESBnBlZXIzOQo-CiFjaGFyZ2UtbWF4RG91YmxlVmVyaWZ5QnJhbmRTYWZldHkiGQjx__________8BEgxkb3VibGV2ZXJpZnkKPgohY2hhcmdlLWFsbERvdWJsZVZlcmlmeVZpZXdhYmlsaXR5IhkI8P__________ARIMZG91YmxldmVyaWZ5Cj8KImNoYXJnZS1hbGxEb3VibGVWZXJpZnlCb3RBdm9pZGFuY2UiGQjn__________8BEgxkb3VibGV2ZXJpZnkKSAohY2hhcmdlLWFsbE1vYXRWaWV3YWJpbGl0eVRyYWNraW5nIiMIpf__________ARIObW9hdC1yZXBvcnRpbmcqBgigjQYYDBCbOQ..%26durs%3DNBETg5%26crrelr%3D%26npt%3D%26mk%3DGoogle%26mdl%3DChrome%2520-%2520Windows%26adpt%3Dnopx%26ipl%3DYnNhLXpvbmVfMTYwODMwOTQwMDI3Mi0xXzEyMzQ1Nmhvb2RsaW5lLmNvbQ%26fpa%3D744%26pcm%3D3%26ict%3DUnknown%26said%3D9e6b74a8-1710-4c51-a348-fb8f836453f3%26auct%3D1%26us_privacy%3D1---Missing%26tail%3D1%26r%3Dhttps://www.livenation.com/artist/K8vZ9171RJf/roxy-music-events%253Futm_source%253Dprogrammatic%2526utm_medium%253Dcpm%2526utm_campaign%253D27482557%2526utm_content%253DN232002.284566THETRADEDESK1%2526utm_term%253D332391945%2526c%253DDSP_LN%2526dclid%253D%2525edclid!
https://hoodline.com/author/joe-kukura/
https://hoodline.com/news/san-francisco/
https://hoodline.com/neighborhoods/tenderloin/


4/6/22, 12:40 PM City moves to put safe injection site at former Geary Street Goodwill

https://hoodline.com/2021/11/city-moves-to-put-safe-injection-site-at-former-geary-street-goodwill/ 2/3

Show Comments

Apr 04, 2022
San Francisco  Outer Sunset

Outer Sunset’s bad air quality readings baffle experts
A small stretch along the Great Highway is generating far worse air quality

readings than any other spot in the city, which could be a public health problem,

or could be that sea salt and spray are screwing with the monitors.

Joe Kukura

Apr 01, 2022
San Francisco  Mission  Potrero Hill

Mission District tapas bar Asiento closing permanently
Saturday, but promises a ‘rebrand’ is coming
After 11 years of dazzling the Mission with an out-of-this world mural, Asiento is

going out with a big bang on Friday and Saturday nights. But stay tuned, because

ownership is promising a “remodel and rebrand.”

Joe Kukura

Apr 01, 2022
San Francisco

Popular stargazing event returns to U.C. Berkeley
U.C. Berkeley's Astro Night series is back, with an April 7 talk on "Life on other

planets" followed by a chance to look through the university's telescopes.

Laila Weir

Mar 31, 2022
San Francisco  Hayes Valley

High-end tech store B8ta closes for good after several
crime-troubled years
B8ta's CEO, Vibhu Norby, said his employees were repeatedly subjected to

harassment, while the stores themselves were vandalized and broken into, and

after some temporary closures, the business is calling it quits in the U.S. entirely.

Marie Edinger

https://hoodline.com/2022/04/outer-sunset-s-exceptionally-bad-air-quality-readings-baffle-experts/
https://hoodline.com/news/san-francisco/
https://hoodline.com/neighborhoods/outer-sunset/
https://hoodline.com/2022/04/outer-sunset-s-exceptionally-bad-air-quality-readings-baffle-experts/
https://hoodline.com/2022/04/outer-sunset-s-exceptionally-bad-air-quality-readings-baffle-experts/
https://hoodline.com/author/joe-kukura/
https://hoodline.com/2022/04/mission-district-tapas-bar-asiento-closing-permanently-saturday-but-promises-a-rebrand-is-coming/
https://hoodline.com/news/san-francisco/
https://hoodline.com/neighborhoods/mission/
https://hoodline.com/neighborhoods/potrero-hill/
https://hoodline.com/2022/04/mission-district-tapas-bar-asiento-closing-permanently-saturday-but-promises-a-rebrand-is-coming/
https://hoodline.com/2022/04/mission-district-tapas-bar-asiento-closing-permanently-saturday-but-promises-a-rebrand-is-coming/
https://hoodline.com/author/joe-kukura/
https://hoodline.com/2022/04/popular-stargazing-event-returns-to-uc-berkeley/
https://hoodline.com/news/san-francisco/
https://hoodline.com/2022/04/popular-stargazing-event-returns-to-uc-berkeley/
https://hoodline.com/2022/04/popular-stargazing-event-returns-to-uc-berkeley/
https://hoodline.com/author/laila-weir/
https://hoodline.com/2022/03/crime-and-the-pandemic-brought-down-a-bay-area-business-over-time/
https://hoodline.com/news/san-francisco/
https://hoodline.com/neighborhoods/hayes-valley/
https://hoodline.com/2022/03/crime-and-the-pandemic-brought-down-a-bay-area-business-over-time/
https://hoodline.com/2022/03/crime-and-the-pandemic-brought-down-a-bay-area-business-over-time/
https://hoodline.com/author/marie-edinger/


4/6/22, 12:40 PM City moves to put safe injection site at former Geary Street Goodwill

https://hoodline.com/2021/11/city-moves-to-put-safe-injection-site-at-former-geary-street-goodwill/ 3/3

    

Hoodline - your city's top

journalists reporting original news &

stories across neighborhood beats.

Follow Us

contact@hoodline.com

Connect

Subscribe

Follow on Twitter

Like on Facebook

Network on Linkedin

Inspire on Instagram

Contact Us

But wait, there's more...

Submit a Tip

Careers

Advertising

Privacy Policy

Terms of Service

Best of San Jose

Cities

ALBUQUERQUE - ATLANTA - AUSTIN - BAKERSFIELD - BALTIMORE - BOSTON - CHARLOTTE - CHICAGO - CINCINNATI - CLEVELAND - COLORADO

SPRINGS - COLUMBUS - CORPUS CHRISTI - DALLAS - DENVER - DETROIT - EL PASO - FRESNO - GREENVILLE - HAMPTON ROADS - HARRISBURG

- HONOLULU - HOUSTON - INDIANAPOLIS - INLAND EMPIRE - JACKSONVILLE - KANSAS CITY - LAS VEGAS - LOS ANGELES - LOUISVILLE -

MEMPHIS - MIAMI - MILWAUKEE - MINNEAPOLIS - NASHVILLE - NEW ORLEANS - NEW YORK - OAKLAND - OKLAHOMA CITY - OMAHA - ORLANDO

- PHILADELPHIA - PHOENIX - PITTSBURGH - PORTLAND - RALEIGH-DURHAM - SACRAMENTO - SAN ANTONIO - SAN DIEGO - SAN FRANCISCO -

SAN JOSE - SEATTLE - ST. LOUIS - TAMPA - TRENTON - TUCSON - TULSA - WASHINGTON, D.C. - WICHITA

© 2022 SFist LLC

https://www.facebook.com/Hoodline/
https://twitter.com/hoodline
https://www.instagram.com/hoodline/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCjQFzSH0AxGMFp-SHwJMC0w
https://www.linkedin.com/company/hoodline/
mailto:contact@hoodline.com
https://twitter.com/hoodline
https://www.facebook.com/Hoodline/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/hoodline/
https://www.instagram.com/hoodline/
https://hoodline.com/contact-us/
https://hoodline.com/tips/
https://hoodline.com/contact-us/
https://hoodline.com/contact-us/
https://hoodline.com/privacy/
https://hoodline.com/terms/
https://hoodline.com/best-of-san-jose/
https://hoodline.com/news/albuquerque/
https://hoodline.com/news/atlanta/
https://hoodline.com/news/austin/
https://hoodline.com/news/bakersfield/
https://hoodline.com/news/baltimore/
https://hoodline.com/news/boston/
https://hoodline.com/news/charlotte/
https://hoodline.com/news/chicago/
https://hoodline.com/news/cincinnati/
https://hoodline.com/news/cleveland/
https://hoodline.com/news/colorado-springs/
https://hoodline.com/news/columbus/
https://hoodline.com/news/corpus-christi/
https://hoodline.com/news/dallas/
https://hoodline.com/news/denver/
https://hoodline.com/news/detroit/
https://hoodline.com/news/el-paso/
https://hoodline.com/news/fresno/
https://hoodline.com/news/greenville/
https://hoodline.com/news/hampton-roads/
https://hoodline.com/news/harrisburg/
https://hoodline.com/news/honolulu/
https://hoodline.com/news/houston/
https://hoodline.com/news/indianapolis/
https://hoodline.com/news/inland-empire/
https://hoodline.com/news/jacksonville/
https://hoodline.com/news/kansas-city/
https://hoodline.com/news/las-vegas/
https://hoodline.com/news/los-angeles/
https://hoodline.com/news/louisville/
https://hoodline.com/news/memphis/
https://hoodline.com/news/miami/
https://hoodline.com/news/milwaukee/
https://hoodline.com/news/minneapolis/
https://hoodline.com/news/nashville/
https://hoodline.com/news/new-orleans/
https://hoodline.com/news/new-york/
https://hoodline.com/news/oakland/
https://hoodline.com/news/oklahoma-city/
https://hoodline.com/news/omaha/
https://hoodline.com/news/orlando/
https://hoodline.com/news/philadelphia/
https://hoodline.com/news/phoenix/
https://hoodline.com/news/pittsburgh/
https://hoodline.com/news/portland/
https://hoodline.com/news/raleigh-durham/
https://hoodline.com/news/sacramento/
https://hoodline.com/news/san-antonio/
https://hoodline.com/news/san-diego/
https://hoodline.com/news/san-francisco/
https://hoodline.com/news/san-jose/
https://hoodline.com/news/seattle/
https://hoodline.com/news/st-louis/
https://hoodline.com/news/tampa/
https://hoodline.com/news/trenton/
https://hoodline.com/news/tucson/
https://hoodline.com/news/tulsa/
https://hoodline.com/news/washington-d-c/
https://hoodline.com/news/wichita/


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Is the U.S. Ready for Safe Injection Rooms? | The Marshall Project

https://www.themarshallproject.org/2015/11/06/is-the-u-s-ready-for-safe-injection-rooms?gclid=CjwKCAjw9LSSBhBsEiwAKtf0n8_zNfa1M0oW334dIg_… 1/4

11.06.2015
NEWS

Is the U.S. Ready for Safe
Injection Rooms?
A widespread heroin problem could open the door to a

once-radical idea.

Spring Membership Campaign

The Marshall Project has ambitious plans for 2022. You can show your support for independent,
nonprofit journalism and help make our plans a reality by becoming a member today.

DONATE TODAY

By BETH SCHWARTZAPFEL

This week, a Boston nonprofit announced plans to open a “safe space” where people can come

when they’re high on heroin. Dr. Jessie Gaeta, chief medical officer of the Boston Health Care for

the Homeless Program, told radio station WBUR that no one will actually use drugs in the room.

Rather, it’s for people who are already high and “need a safe place to be that’s not a street corner,”

she said.

It would appear to be one of the only of its kind in the U.S. But public health officials in eight other

countries have for many years gone even one step further, allowing people to actually shoot drugs

under their watch. At about 100 supervised injection facilities around the world, health care

providers are available to intervene in case of overdose, connect users with drug treatment

resources and provide clean needles and other supplies. Vancouver operates the only such facility

in North America. Ireland this week announced plans to open four safe injection sites next year.

https://www.themarshallproject.org/tag/news
https://www.themarshallproject.org/donate?via=7016Q000000y5ewQAA
https://www.themarshallproject.org/staff/beth-schwartzapfel
http://commonhealth.wbur.org/2015/11/heroin-safe-spaces
http://supervisedinjection.vch.ca/en/
http://www.irishtimes.com/news/ireland/irish-news/injection-rooms-for-addicts-to-open-next-year-in-drug-law-change-says-minister-1.2413509


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Is the U.S. Ready for Safe Injection Rooms? | The Marshall Project

https://www.themarshallproject.org/2015/11/06/is-the-u-s-ready-for-safe-injection-rooms?gclid=CjwKCAjw9LSSBhBsEiwAKtf0n8_zNfa1M0oW334dIg_… 2/4

“A lot of people are homeless or unstably housed, and when people are injecting in public it tends

to be riskier,” says Daniel Raymond, Policy Director at the New York City–based Harm Reduction

Coalition. “They tend to rush because they don’t want to be seen. This increases risk for overdose,

for spreading infections. There’s logic to saying, if you’re at risk of overdose, let’s at least be inside

where someone can respond.”

Many years of research have shown that supervised injection facilities reduce overdose deaths,

prevent the spread of HIV and hep C, increase the likelihood that users will seek drug treatment or

other medical care, and decrease street crime and discarded syringes in public areas.

But until recently, the idea was a political nonstarter in the U.S. “It's beyond ridiculous to ask

Americans to pay for drug addicts to inject themselves with heroin and cocaine,” South Carolina

Sen. Jim DeMint said in 2007 after the San Francisco health department co-sponsored a day-long

symposium to explore whether a supervised injection facility might help to address some of the

city’s longstanding problems with public drug use in its Tenderloin neighborhood. DeMint

introduced a measure (which failed) that would have banned federal funding for supervised

injection facilities. Then–San Francisco Mayor Gavin Newsome said he did not support the idea,

and Office of National Drug Control Policy official Bertha Madras called the conversation

“disconcerting.”

“This is a form of giving up,” Madras said.

Raymond, one of the event’s organizers, said, “It just kind of crashed and burned. The country

wasn’t ready for this conversation.” It wasn’t until 2009 that the federal government ended its

decades-long ban on federal funding for needle exchanges. Supervised drug injection was just a

step too far.

But with the recent spike in opiate use and overdose deaths, which have hit white, rural and

suburban communities especially hard, has come an emerging national recognition of drug

addiction as a public health problem.

And with that recognition comes a tentative embrace of a philosophy known as “harm reduction.”

Pragmatic rather than punitive, harm reduction operates with the assumption that the next best

thing to preventing drug use altogether is minimizing its harm. This approach ushered in needle

exchanges in the 1980s, and more recently has driven advocates and health departments to begin

distributing Narcan so drug users can reverse overdoses at home. In 2001, there were two official

Narcan-distribution programs. Only one state—New Mexico—had legal protections for those who

http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736%2810%2962353-7/abstract
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21450450
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20800976
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25456324
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16722550
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25456324
http://usatoday30.usatoday.com/news/health/2007-10-18-sf-injections_N.htm
http://www.thebody.com/content/art43702.html
https://www.whitehouse.gov/blog/2012/01/05/federal-funding-ban-needle-exchange-programs
http://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/heroin/
http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6401a10.htm?s_cid=mm6401a10_w
http://www.nytimes.com/2015/10/31/us/heroin-war-on-drugs-parents.html?_r=0
http://www.abajournal.com/news/article/rising_use_of_heroin_and_prescription_opiates_spark_call_for_non_criminal
http://harmreduction.org/about-us/principles-of-harm-reduction/
http://www.anypositivechange.org/odposter.pdf


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Is the U.S. Ready for Safe Injection Rooms? | The Marshall Project

https://www.themarshallproject.org/2015/11/06/is-the-u-s-ready-for-safe-injection-rooms?gclid=CjwKCAjw9LSSBhBsEiwAKtf0n8_zNfa1M0oW334dIg_… 3/4

prescribed or used Narcan. Today, more than 100 Narcan programs are operating 30 states, and 37

states have passed a Narcan law.


 An peer counselor at Insite
demonstrates how someone would use
one of their injection booths.
COURTESY VANCOUVER COASTAL HEALTH

Reaction to this week’s announcement in Boston reflects the change in attitude. “I’m up for trying

anything when it comes to addiction and active using,” Boston mayor Marty Walsh told WBUR. “If

we can help some folks, homeless folks in particular, we should try anything.”

But Boston’s safe space stops short of being a supervised injection facility, and some don’t think

the plan goes far enough. “I don’t find that there’s anything controversial about what they’re doing

there,” said San Francisco-based epidemiologist Alex Kral, who studies supervised injection

facilities. “People who use drugs can be in pretty much any spaces they want to.”

Around the country Kral has heard from social service agencies with what he calls “safer

consumption bathrooms.” Knowing that clients will use drugs in the bathroom no matter what they

do, these organizations have stocked the rooms with clean needles and Narcan and taken other

safety measures. “They’ve got a door that is cut out at the bottom of it so that someone outside can

see if someone has fallen to the floor. They have doors that have timers on them that automatically

open after five minutes,” Kral says.

One organization has gone even further, Kral says, operating an actual supervised injection facility

with mirrors, stainless steel counters, and a staffer trained in overdose prevention and other harm

reduction techniques. However, the staffer is a layperson: nurses, EMTs, or doctors would risk their

medical licenses by being involved. The facility lacks any certification or oversight—it must operate

underground because it’s breaking several laws.

Organizations looking to launch an official supervised injection site could find workarounds in

state law—health departments can seek legal exemptions in the case of a public health emergency,

http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6423a2.htm
http://lawatlas.org/query?dataset=laws-regulating-administration-of-naloxone


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Is the U.S. Ready for Safe Injection Rooms? | The Marshall Project

https://www.themarshallproject.org/2015/11/06/is-the-u-s-ready-for-safe-injection-rooms?gclid=CjwKCAjw9LSSBhBsEiwAKtf0n8_zNfa1M0oW334dIg_… 4/4

for example—but would still be vulnerable to federal prosecution. Federal “crack house statutes”

make it a crime punishable by up to 20 years in prison to “knowingly open, lease, rent, use, or

maintain any place… for the purpose of manufacturing, distributing, or using any controlled

substance.”

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18172151
http://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/21cfr/21usc/856.htm


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Understanding Possible Safe Injection Site In Philadelphia

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/safe-injection-philly/ 1/11

Understanding the Possible Safe
Injection Site in Philadelphia

Authored by Elliott Redwine, | Medically Reviewed by
Dr. Elizabeth Drew, MD 
Last Updated: December 9, 2021 Have

questions?
We’re here to
help.

Our caring and
compassionate staff is
available to answer
any questions you may
have.

Safe injection sites have popped up around the world over
the past few years. For those not familiar, a safe injection
site is a facility where drug addicts can safely use IV drugs
with medical supervision. Ten countries currently allow
legal operation of these facilities including Canada,
Australia, and multiple countries in Europe.

The first safe injection site in Philadelphia was set to open
at the start of this year before the pandemic broke out. A

Our Programs Therapies Verify Insurance See Our Facility About Us

Call 24/7

267-263-7378

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/contributor/elliott-redwine/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/contributor/elizabeth-drew/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/programs/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/treatments/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/insurance/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/gallery/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/about-us/
tel:267-263-7378


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Understanding Possible Safe Injection Site In Philadelphia

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/safe-injection-philly/ 2/11

Contact
Us

Popular Recent

How Drug Addiction
Affects the Entire
Family
March 29th, 2022

10 Celebrities Who
Overcame Heroin
Addiction
January 23rd, 2021

Rehab vs. Jail Time:
How Drug Rehab
Provides a Path to
Recovery
December 19th, 2020

U.S. federal judge approved the launch of a facility in the
city at the end of February. The approval was a welcome
respite from the legal and social battle that Safehouse, a
Philadelphia-based nonprofit, has been fighting for the past
two years.

Supervised injection facilities are an incredible source of
controversy and debate. Health experts, policymakers,
rehab facilities, and town residents alike each have a strong
opinion. Supporters believe these sites are a safe way to
combat the opioid crisis. Proponents insist they only serve
to exacerbate the growing drug problem.

The issue of safe injection sites isn’t clear-cut or
straightforward. There are both pros and cons to
Philadelphia’s potential safe injection site. What exactly do
these facilities entail and how might they help or harm the
community?

Start Your Recovery at Peace
Valley Recovery

Detox: withdrawal and craving
management
Therapy: group & individual
therapy
Aftercare Plan: comprehensive
individualized program
Insurance: most major insurances
accepted
Housing: safe sober living
environment

Call Now. It's Free & Confidential!

(267) 263-7378

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/contact
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/how-drug-addiction-affects-the-entire-family/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/how-drug-addiction-affects-the-entire-family/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/10-celebrities-heroin-addiction/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/10-celebrities-heroin-addiction/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/rehab-vs-jail-time/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/rehab-vs-jail-time/
https://www.npr.org/2020/02/26/809608489/philadelphia-nonprofit-opening-nations-first-supervised-injection-site-next-week#:~:text=The%20Kensington%20neighborhood%20north%20of,would%20be%20in%20South%20Philadelphia.
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/opioid-rehab/
tel:267-263-7378


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Understanding Possible Safe Injection Site In Philadelphia

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/safe-injection-philly/ 3/11

What is a Safe Injection Site?

A safe injection site is a legal, medically-supervised facility
for the use of intravenous drugs. They provide a hygienic
and secure environment where IV drug users can inject
safely. These facilities do not sell or provide any illegal
drugs; users bring their own drugs and administer them
themselves.

There are a few different names for safe injection sites
including:

Overdose prevention centers
Medically-supervised injection centers
Supervised consumption services
Fix rooms

Sites are staffed with medical personnel who provide clean
supplies, oversee the injection, and clean up when users

https://www.drugpolicy.org/issues/supervised-consumption-services


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Understanding Possible Safe Injection Site In Philadelphia

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/safe-injection-philly/ 4/11

are done. Medical staff is also trained in overdose
prevention and armed with naloxone, the overdose-
reversing medication. They’re prepared to intervene if the
need arises.

Safe injection sites don’t exist for the sole purpose of
supervised drug use, though. The real goal of these
facilities is to combat the fatality of drug addiction. Medical
personnel is on hand to prevent users from an accidental
overdose, the cause of most drug-related deaths. They’re
truly designed to keep users alive long enough to find the
help they need.

Injection sites themselves cannot treat individuals battling
with addiction. They can only supervise use until the
person is ready to get help. Once they’re ready, though,
injection sites are prepared to immediately connect users
with addiction treatment and other social services.

Pros of Safe Injection Sites

The safe injection site in Philadelphia is not the first
overdose prevention facility in the world. Sites like these
already exist and operate in Canada, Australia, and various
countries throughout Europe. Supporters of safe injection
sites explain the many benefits that result from their
operation.

Reduce overdose mortality rates

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/drug-addiction/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/treatments/


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Understanding Possible Safe Injection Site In Philadelphia

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/safe-injection-philly/ 5/11

The number of overdose mortality rates over the past few
years is alarming. 67,367 people died of a drug overdose in
2018 alone. Safe injection sites supervise IV drug use
which protects users from the possibility of a fatal
accidental overdose.

Reduce HIV and viral hepatitis risk

Sharing or using dirty hypodermic needles puts users at
risk of contracting HIV and viral hepatitis. The sterile
supplies offered at safe injection sites in Philadelphia
eliminate the possibility of catching these infections.

Increase enrollment in treatment and other social
services

Safe injection sites not only eliminate the possibility of
death due to overdose but increase the chances that a user
gets help. Facilities connect users with addiction treatment
programs and other life-saving social services they might
not usually consider or have access to.

Nonjudgmental environment

The stigma associated with drug use, IV drug use, in
particular, causes immense feelings of shame. Safe
injection facilities remove the stigma for a moment which
may encourage users to finally seek the help they need.

Improvements to community health and safety

Safe injection sites remove drug use from public spaces like
parks and bathrooms. They also reduce the dangerous
waste that comes with public drug use, especially the
improper disposal of syringes.

Reduce demands on emergency medical services

One of the most important benefits of overdose prevention
sites is the reduction of demands on emergency medical
services. Emergency medical personnel are often called on
when someone accidentally overdoses. Safe injection sites
in Philadelphia provide some relief to EMS.

https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/data/statedeaths.html
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-3362.2009.00025.x
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/programs/
https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.1040774


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Understanding Possible Safe Injection Site In Philadelphia

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/safe-injection-philly/ 6/11

Cons of Safe Injection Sites

Alongside the benefits of safe injection sites come some
negatives that must be addressed. Critics of Safehouse’s
safe injection site in Philadelphia insist that the benefits do
not outweigh the disadvantages.

Potentially encourages IV drug use

Intravenous injection is the most dangerous way to use
drugs. Offering a safe place to inject drugs could encourage
some users to switch to IV use. Users who switch place
themselves at greater risk, especially if they aren’t able to
access the safe injection site at some point.

Possible strain on the government budget



4/6/22, 12:41 PM Understanding Possible Safe Injection Site In Philadelphia

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/safe-injection-philly/ 7/11

Operating safe injection sites may place additional strain on
government budgets. Critics insist these facilities are not
with the financial investment considering the possible
negative impact they have on the surrounding community.

May increase drug-related crime nearby

Since users must bring their own drugs, safe injection sites
may increase drug-related crime nearby. Dealers will want
to position sellers in the area and it could lead to or
encourage potential gang rivalries in the area.

Creates difficulty for policymakers

Despite offering a legal injection site, the drugs used are
still illegal. Opening a safe injection site creates a difficult
grey area that policymakers must navigate. Critics question
how law enforcement is supposed to maintain uniform
compliance with drug laws.



4/6/22, 12:41 PM Understanding Possible Safe Injection Site In Philadelphia

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/safe-injection-philly/ 8/11

Are Safe Injection Sites Effective?

All things considered, the most important question you
probably have is, are safe injection sites effective?
Regardless of both pros and cons, if they aren’t a helpful
tool then there is no need for them. Why open a safe
injection site in Philadelphia if it’s not an effective way to
combat drug addiction?

Thankfully, many studies look at the existing operations in
Vancouver, Sydney, and other locations. Studies show these
facilities reduce the likelihood of fatal overdoses over time.
They promote safer injections and also increase access to
health care, addiction treatment, and other life-saving
services.

Research also shows that safe injection sites are often
associated with lower levels of public drug injection and
improper syringe disposal. They limit the impact of the
public nuisance often left behind by drug addiction.

Philadelphia’s Safe Injection Site
Could Save Lives

There’s no denying the severe impact that drug addiction
has in Pennsylvania. The state has some of the highest
rates of opioid overdoses in the United States. A safe
injection site in Philadelphia could be one step towards
combating the devastating effects of addiction.

“Philadelphia, like the nation, is in an overdose crisis,”
explained Ronda Goldfein, co-founder and Vice President of
Safehouse. “We have the highest death rate of any big city
in America.” Her organization insists that the proposed
facility will have a positive impact on the addiction
epidemic throughout the city.

Drug overdoses have claimed the lives of more than half a
million people in the United States since 2000. Safehouse

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0376871614018754?via%3Dihub
https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0003351


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Understanding Possible Safe Injection Site In Philadelphia

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/safe-injection-philly/ 9/11

realizes that something needs to be done and is sure the
site is a positive step forward. Jim Kenney, mayor of
Philadelphia, publicly supports Safehouse’s plan. He
estimates that their facility could save the lives of 25 to 76
people each year.

Safehouse Opening Derailed by
COVID-19

Despite their preparedness to open a facility at the start of
the year, COVID-19 derailed those plans. It didn’t do
anything to derail the effects of drug addiction, though.
Counties across the country saw rates of abuse and
overdose skyrocket as shelter-in-place orders sprung up.

The COVID-19 had a similar effect on Philadelphia, too.
Harm reduction advocates insist the pandemic revealed just
how great the need for a safe injection site in Philadelphia
is. “Every day, we are at risk of an overdose that may occur
on the street that would not have occurred inside of a
supervised injection facility,” explained Philadelphia District
Attorney Larry Krasner.

Safe injection sites keep people from accidentally
overdosing while alone on the streets. It’s difficult to open a
site under the current circumstances, though. Although
they were approved in February, Safehouse likely will not
open for the time being. A safe injection site in Philadelphia
will, once again, have to wait.

Finding Help After Safehouse

Safe injection sites in Philadelphia are a harm reduction
measure for opioid abuse but not a solution. Addiction
treatment facilities are the way to escape the cycle of

https://www.npr.org/2020/02/26/809608489/philadelphia-nonprofit-opening-nations-first-supervised-injection-site-next-week#:~:text=The%20Kensington%20neighborhood%20north%20of,would%20be%20in%20South%20Philadelphia.
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/the-impact-of-two-epidemics-addiction-and-covid-19/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/opioid-pennsylvania/
https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/overdose-deaths-during-pandemic-philadelphia-fights-legal-safe-injection-site-n1235583


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Understanding Possible Safe Injection Site In Philadelphia

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/safe-injection-philly/ 10/11

addiction that IV drug users are trapped in. Connecting
users with drug rehab is a vital part of reducing the impact
of addiction throughout Philadelphia.

Are you trying to stop using drugs? Peace Valley Recovery
is an addiction recovery center near Philadelphia. We
provide premier alcohol and drug rehab for those who need
help. Whether it’s your first time trying to stop or you’ve
attempted to quit before, we are here for you. Reach out
now to discover how you can find the path to recovery at
Peace Valley today!

Sources:

1. NPR:
https://www.npr.org/2020/02/26/809608489/philadel
phia-nonprofit-opening-nations-first-supervised-
injection-site-next-week

2. Drug Policy Alliance:
https://drugpolicy.org/issues/supervised-consumption-
services

3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention:
https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/deaths/index.html

4. Wiley Online Library:
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1465-
3362.2009.00025.x

5. CMAJ Group: https://www.cmaj.ca/content/171/7/731
6. Science Direct:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S
0376871614018754?via%3Dihub

7. PLOS ONE: https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?
id=10.1371/journal.pone.0003351

8. NBC News: https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-
news/overdose-deaths-during-pandemic-
philadelphia-fights-legal-safe-injection-site-
n1235583

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/contact/
https://www.npr.org/2020/02/26/809608489/philadelphia-nonprofit-opening-nations-first-supervised-injection-site-next-week#:~:text=The%20Kensington%20neighborhood%20north%20of,would%20be%20in%20South%20Philadelphia.
https://drugpolicy.org/issues/supervised-consumption-services
https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/deaths/index.html
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1465-3362.2009.00025.x
https://www.cmaj.ca/content/171/7/731
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0376871614018754?via%3Dihub
https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0003351
https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/overdose-deaths-during-pandemic-philadelphia-fights-legal-safe-injection-site-n1235583


4/6/22, 12:41 PM Understanding Possible Safe Injection Site In Philadelphia

https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/blog/safe-injection-philly/ 11/11

Peace Valley Recovery seeks to
heal individuals and families
affected by the disease of
addiction through building a
bridge to a peaceful and
purposeful life.

Call
(267)

263-7378

© 2022 Peace Valley Recovery | 5230 York Road, Doylestown,

PA 18902 | 267-263-7378


All Rights Reserved |  Terms & Privacy  |  Sitemap
  

tel:267-263-7378
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/terms-privacy/
https://www.peacevalleyrecovery.com/sitemap/
https://www.instagram.com/peace_valley_recovery
https://www.facebook.com/peacevalleyrecovery/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/peace-valley-recovery

	4.12.22 Agenda Draft
	Commission Secretary: Josh Jacobs (jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info; 510-225-8035)
	All agenda items are for Discussion and Possible Action.

	1. 3.9.22HomelessCommissionMinutes - draft
	MEETING MINUTES

	2. Fred Finch Description
	3. Terry Taplin Crisis Stabilization 2022-03-28 Agenda Packet - Agenda Committee RED
	4. 2022-04-07 HAC agenda packet
	5a. City moves to put safe injection site at former Geary Street Goodwill
	5b. Is the U.S. Ready for Safe Injection Rooms_ _ The Marshall Project
	5c. Understanding Possible Safe Injection Site In Philadelphia



